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OFFICE OF

A. A. MuUrrHY,
GENERAL PAINTER,

238 & 220 W, 30TH ST,
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A. A. MURPHY,
GENERAL PAINTER,
238 & 240 West soth Street,
NEW YORK.










% 74 JM %

Mz&/
/MS/ L//%

/%64//(/ Loz, o/ M/Wé;/&g,// N T %f é

/7//;4/ é?/t//l’ I /ﬂézzyg/ﬂziy -
,//w/zﬂ// 6(4//%% W//é %amr f@/?/’/

\% %//z)a Ly Fde sy —22D /e.zc/ e
%Iao //4

Pl Z/ /

ﬁg//;/y@ K

et







SUBP(ENA FOR A WITNESS TO ATTEND THE GENERAL SESSIONS 911‘ ;I‘HE PEACE.

RTIN

Court

Jn the Fame of the People of the State of Pelv Pork,

o o7zZ, /Z/m
of No. /7 7& W

YOU ARE COMMANDED to ‘appcar before the Court of General Sessions of the

Peace in and for the City and County of New York, at the Sessions Building, adjoinin
New Court House in the City Hall Park, in the City of New York, on the

at the hour of@;in the forenoon of the same day,

give it to the officer at the

known,
[SEE OTHER SIDE ¥OR oTIIER DIRECTIONS. ]

an attachment will immediately. issue,

ND STORY AND FRONTING THE PARE.

, and

eyed,
h you

that your attendance may be

Dated\at the ity of New York, the first Monday of DT

in the of our Lord 189/
DE ILANCEY NICOI.L, District A ttorney.
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Roonz door,

§FIf this Subpoena is disob
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Should the case not be called on for trial, and no reason
assigned in Court, please inquire in the District Attorney’s
Office about it, and you may save time.

If inconvenient to remain, and you prefer another day,
state this early to the District Attorney, in the Court.

If ill when served, please send timely word to the District
Attorney’s Office. '

If you know of more testimony than was produced be-
fore the Magistrate, or if a fact which you think material
+vas not there brought out, please state the same to the
District Attorney or one of his Assistants.
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T. J. BURTON, Secreiary.
ADDRESS, 113 WEST 38TH STRERET, NEW YORK.




THE AMERICAN PHOTOGRAPHIC CONFERENCE.

=SSN

SECRETARY’S OFFICE, 113 WEST 38TH STREET.
e IR —

OFFICERS.

DR, ELY VAN DE WARKER, Syracuse Camera Club,
GEORGE BULLOCK, Cincinnati Camera Club,

20 Vicr-PRESIDENT, DR, GRORGE L. PARMELE, Hartford Camera Club.
SECRETARY, - -

T.J. BURTON, The Society of Amateur Photographers of New York.
TREASUREER, =~ = W. H. DREW, Boston Camera Club,

PRESIDENT, - -
1st VICE-PRESIDENT,

IT MAY CONCERN.

This is to gcertify that I have known Richard Mead for the

past seven years to be an upright, honest and industrious young

man, and from my business transactions with him during that time,

I believe his character to be above reproach. I will personally

come Torward and verify this statement ot any time, if necessary,

or can be found at my residence, €50 Ninth Avenue, New York.

Respectfully yours,

=

Dictated.
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G. W. HAWKINS. E. F. HAWKINS.

OFFICE OF

ASHUELOT BREWERY,

ESTABLISHED 1864,
843 & 345 West Forty-First Straet,
C. P. HAwWEKINS Sons, J
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______________________________ X
The People on the Complaint of

Dora Goltze
Against
RICHARD MEAD

—————————————————————————————— X .
In this case I have given the matter and the rapers
submitted to me futrlconsideration and investigation N

It appears that Richard Mead while in a stawe of intoxi-—
cation,it is charged,attempted an entrance into the |
apartments kept by thé complainant at No.790 9th Avenue
on ihe EIsp day of August I890,and while attempping to
enter the said premises was caught,arrested and ar-
raigned,and was subsequently indicted b, the Grand.Jury
%upon the charge of burglary in the second degree.

The complainan. now desires to withdraw her complaint
against the defendant or rather to recommend leniency or
clemency in his behalf and states as her reasons Ffor so
doing that she does not believe now tha:t it waé the
intention of the defendan. a. the day and .ime afore-
szid to commit a crime,but that his conduct is excus;
able for reasons set forth at length in her withdrawal
sﬁatement filed with the papers and of date January 21,
I89I. Irrespective of her sitatement to me and ﬁer
written sstatement heretofore referred to,I have in-
vestigated the character of the accused,and I find that
he bears a most excellent reputation. Amongst the
rapers will be found testimonial letters weceived from

well known business men of the City of New York,setting

/forth the faet of the good character and repute of the




accused in every respect. There is also contained amongs

the papers a communication from his employers with whom

he has been connected for many years,in which they

state that the accused had heretofore been intrusted

with money in large and small amounts uponmany occasions
. A€

and had been trusted with responsible duties of xatfous

natures and had always been found reliable, trustworthy

and honest. The complainant believes that the defend-

art has been sufficiently runished,and from all the
circumstances relating to the case I unhesitatingly give
it as my opinion that the interests of justice would
hot be set at nought were the defendant discharged from
custody. This is his first offense,and taking into
consideration everything tha. has been said by those
interested in his behalf and the documen.s on file with
the papers,I recommend that clemency be given him,and
that for the reasons heretofore fully set forth ne be
discharged.

All of which is respectfully submi.ted.

Dated,Mew York,April &,I89I.
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44 District Police Court.

being duly examined before the under-

swnnd according to law, on the annexed charge ;

make a statement in rzlation to the charge against
enable h¢e  if hLe see fit to answer the charge

aydl being informed that it is heel right to
h 4y *; that the statement is designed to

and explain the facts alleged against hee,
h <2 waiver cannot be used

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that
against h G~ on the trial.

- Question. B

e AnSWET.

e -Question. . How old are youn ?

N
o
1
g
S
N
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o
3
(Y
=
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&

1

‘Where were yon born ?

WMQ

Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

2/l e T D

‘What is your business or profession ¢
M%

Five any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

. _Question.
Answer.
Question.

___Answer. = 7 B
Question.
Amnswer.

appearing in the

___Question.
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16 appearing to me by the within depositions aid statements that the crime thercin mentioned has been

comvmitéed, and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the within nanved

WJCWP\

Suiltythereof, I order that %e be hveld to answer the swme and  he  be admitted fo bail in the suin of
. EREY Supt—
f%ﬁ L Hundred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City I’% of the City of New York, until h%ﬂwh bayil. -
Dated &C]@ W . Zyﬂ %‘/}//////D/7 /é—-’ Police Justice.

I havve admilted the above-named

to bail to answer Ly the wndertaling hereto annexed.

] 4
TP i
J)atalm o 18 7oA
J ST

There being no sufficient cawse to belicve the within noamed

. %/ﬂ (/Z ﬁ//ﬁ;ﬁ ;’olica Justice.

Luilty of the offence within mentioned. I order 1 iobe disclvarged.

e d20lECE JWSELCE.
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Few York General Sessions.

PEOPLE ON MY COMPLAINT,
VERSUS

RAN By IOV

ety K’ﬂﬂ%&%ﬂ;zmﬁf in the alove cade, T /e/ o tecommend Hhe
a/%/?(/(&nf 7 duz'é/ /é/uéﬂcy aﬁt/ 2 6’7726%6‘}& ad Z%’e %tﬁéi‘ (wz{/ @Zﬂ‘ubz‘ @%‘/o{mey

97%3? dee //;/ Zfzx d%om/" /ukf ﬁ e.’&/éeddﬂ/? ddcsd Z%f/f 777;// teardons ,% Jo 1/05'97»

ate 10l contsolled /} @72y m/ym%fﬂ/e lo 77?74:2% E/?W\\)\_X/\_i ™~
SRR AN A/vm ARLA A AR AL
RO AR WAL

_ SANA AN
LPAATN AR U VRS A vruceed
SARRANA - NI D VI A WC\‘ DX MAAALL
VWAMNSALA QoA ANIAL AR







. B : A S
Police Court— /44‘ Didtrict. )
@ity and ('Ln,untg%s % _

. <
of ety Pork, . WA e~
QfNO- 20 Wb(x_/(% Street, aJed.....éfZ—y

occupatzon/ % W S / D ‘ being duly sworn

deposes and says, that é premises No. 70’ 7 }////aé @@MOZ/Q/ Ward

tn the City and County aforesaid the said . being a. 7—_ Cotetlced 4@/{ YA TIIP
el 2l B trtln g e i e <R %M %W—

cmzi wlwc]z was occupied by deponent as a.. V&Mw @6&{/&/ ZRW PR Z.

and in which there was at the time e-louman beino g5by name Qﬁ‘,ﬂ"t’:ﬁ%

5..,,._,,9_,4, Qow(/\/’éovw gﬂé/a«_ _2?;,:«-(/ c{;/\v,/u,c/«/c =

wer eBURG‘rLA_RIO UéLS. e7g ed by means of for czbl'z

s W&(W 4«

1 8@% n the

{ stolere, and carried away, viz:

the property of . XLl ot cat—. 2. z . o BNl Beell et
and deponent further says, that.She /z,as g) eat cause to belicve, and does belicve, that the aforesaid

A/ @ e
BURGL.A was comamitted ind g the aforesaid pwfe//t Y L ta]cen, stof en a(zd carried away by

)

‘\
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Gourt of Geueral Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORI.

Tt ProPLE oF T STATE OF NEW YORK,

against

M i« W g }l

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

Q - E - w ' :
of the CRIME oF BURGLARY IN THE rmoecw - DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said GRI_ S c a —“neb/,.

late of th&% Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York
.’\’...n_.&..&w day of —— , in the year

aforesaid, on the
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and e R \v’fth I01ce Ay hrms, about the

hour of X __.So.on_ o’clock in the ’:“‘“2"‘3: time of the same day, at the Ward,
City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of one DD \3 W .
. *

L.

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, there being then and there
some human being, to wit : - — M —_—
>

within the said dwelling house, with intent to commit some crime therein, to wit: the goods,

chattels and personal property of the said W W —

in the said dwelling house then 'md the1e bemv then and there feloniously and burglariously to

- .. . - -
A - . .

steal, .take and czury '1\vay, PRI

.

!

against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peate of the People
of the State of New York and their dignity.

M- R LK WSO N

‘m%




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment further accuse the said

of the CRIME OF LARCENY committed as follows:
, / The said

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit : on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the time of the said day, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property.of one,. .. ..

in the dwelling house of the said

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there
feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and
provided, and against the peace of the Pecple of the State of New York and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT--

AND 11 GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the Cnixe or RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows:

The said

&
Iate of the Ward, City and County af oresaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year afore- -
said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain person or persons to the Grand J ury aforesaid unknown, then lately before feloniously

stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniounsl Y receive and have; the said

*
then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been feloniously
stolen, talken and carried away, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,
and against the peace of [the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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Meals, Michael

DATE:
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”"‘it’nesses 5 - Counsel,

Pleads,

THE PEOPLE

7 ﬂ{%/w;w W

Assault in the First Degree, Ete,
(Sections 217 and 218, Penal Code.)

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.

\/W Z - /e /}f?o??d-eman.
Fonik aetl iy,
W
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Police Court— District.

dity and @nnntL
of ety ﬂml\, Bt %
oj]\/o //K (4%&

occupation 4/" M Ce. ﬁ Y being duly sworn

deposes and says, that on tﬁea—Z/ ..... day of %{ 7 et 18%«25 the City of New

York, in the County of New York,

R

Street, aged Years,

/%Z@iolmtly/ and Jeloniously S/S’A ULTED and BEATEN by

‘chocl [ cala, /ﬂww fooee, ) Lo

with the felonious inient to take the life of deponent, or to do him grievous bodily harm,; and without

any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent prays that the said assailant may be apprehended and bound to answer

Jor the above assault, etc. and be dealt with according to law.

Sworn W&;




2704

90U 2

4o foq uayny,

4

7/

District Police Court.

See. 198—"00 Co ,

AND COUNTY[SS . .
7 b% /
d being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and belnrr informed that it is hbo right to
make & statement in relation to the charge against L‘\ that the statement is designed to
enable h fe~=em if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the i'acfs alleged against h e
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement and that h <o waiver cannot be used

against h L= on the trial.

_ Question. What is your name?

Answer.

__Question. How old are yout

Answer

_..Question.

i Q?cestzon ‘Where do you 11ve, a.nd how long have you resided there ?

 tnenr. F I Gitrs Yook | &F ot

Question. What is your business or profession ?

A'n.s"wef . _ i

Give any ezspl'tna,twn you may think Proper of the circumstances appearing in the
T testiniony against you, and state any facts which you think "will tend to §our ~

exculpation ¢

Qnestion
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

comnmitied, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within naned

Suilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and e be admitted 1o bail in the suny of

j—-ﬁ/n/x\ Hundred Dollars, .and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prisonfof the /y of New TYork, until  he  give such bail.

Dated. \/ J N 2 : ~ ﬁ —/Q/ %ﬁ% PaI/we Jzastw)e

I have admitted the above-named. /é Z mm/ ,6{/‘:3 Z

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto anndied.

Dm,,f%A LA e e

There being no sufficient cause to belicve the within named,

Guilty of the offence within mentioned. I order I tobe dischargded.

Police Justice.

Dattad
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District Police Cdrirt. ) liudcrf:tking Lo appear during the Examindgion,

CITY AND COUNTY) o5

OF NEW YORK,

An information having been laid beforg A/ Y34 ’ ) R 0 Police Justice
of the City of New York, charging. o bwr il « @ L..Defendant  with

the offence of ..

and he having been brought befor i examination of said charge, and it having been made

to appear to the satisfaction of said Justice that said examination should be adjourned to some other day, and

the hearing teyfof havigg been adjourned,
A’%ﬁ«k& e e e Defendant of No...

O A b
Street, by occupation rally undertake

that the above named.. - o 4 Defendant

shall personally appear before the said Justice, at the - District Police Court in the City of New York,

P
during the said examination, or that we will pay to the People of the State of New York %of. L/ A
X s

Hundred Dollars. & =
—~.0
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THE PEOPLE
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

Taken the ...
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CITY AND COUNT Y‘% ss
O NEW YORI, ’

Slreel, aged- years,
occupali - heing duly sworn deposes and says,

Lt on the ... L day of.

at the City of New Tork, tn the Cou i of New York, .
4




pam(

J0 LNIVIJIN0D EOL NO

u.Ova aﬂanoanH @H.Hrﬂ

1OTIIST 2Im0y 90170

_ TORN PAGE










= R Lctovies o 4,
P o oyt //?JZE/Z;Z&/L(@ Q/G /ﬁ

LB




Sl
R e S

-







NEW YORK GENERAL SESSIONS.

—E;LT#:ﬁ,“;;”_;“LMM“N<hH

Before
Hon.James Fitzgerald

and a Jury-.

Tried December 10th, 1890.

Indictment filed October 30th, 1890.

Indict ed for Assault in the First Degree.

APPEARANCES
Assistant District Attorney Bedford; for The People.

. J. Gallagher, for the DPefense.

J OHN PENDY, the complainamt, testified that he lived
ét 400 West Street, and was in the produce business, at the
Bric Railroad terminus at 23rd Strect and 1lth Avenue. He
knew the defendant befor e August 29th, 18¢0, and had been ac-
customed to get shaved in his barber shop, forrabout two months
before that date. The defendiant's barber shop was on West

Street, between Gansevoort and Horatio Streats. Between 7 and

S o'elock on the evening of August 29th, 1890, he, the com—




2
Plairmant entered the marber shop of the defendant for the pur—

bose of getting shaved. When he entered there were three far—

mers from Long Island wh_o We;re either being shaved or wvaiting

for their turn. Hoe, the complainalflt, went to the back of

the store +to hang his hat up;.and e heard the Ffatmors run

out, and when he turned around the defendant kicked him, the
complainant, in the stomach, and slashed him with a razor

on the left side of the Torshead near the ey ebrow. The defend-
ant afterwards said that he was sorry that he did not kill him
the complainant. He, the defondant , said this when ho

slammed the door behind him, the complainant. To his know-
ledge there was no ill feeling betweon the complainant and
himself. As soon as the complairant was cut with the razor

T

he ran out and the defendant slammed the door behind him. He,

the complainant, found a police officer, and the police offic-

er asked him what was the matter, and he told the police of-
ficer; Then he, the complai.nant, was taken to St.Vincent's
Hospital in an ambulance, and 8 stitches were put into his
wound. Several days after, he, the complainant got out on
the street again. The defendant came up to him, and asked him

not to proscecute him. This was on tho corner of gansevoort

Street. The dofendant said thazt he was a friend of his, the

complainant, and that the complainant must not swear against

him, and he, the complainant, said that he would prosecute him.




Und oxry

Cross-Examimation, +the complainant testified that he

left his home on A
ugus\t 29th, 1890, qzjt about 7 o'cloek in the

morni i i
rning, and went to Communipaw to ghip a load of cabbage
i . ’

and remained thers umil 2 mlaje~l . LIS

home. He had 3 or 4 glasses of beer in the afternoon. He
had his mir cut that arfternoon, and had drank some beap in
the shop with the defendant, then he told the defendant that
he hadn't time at that time to be shaved, but would return
later, and he did return in the evening. There was a woman
named Miss Downey, as he was afterwards informed, sitting
in the barber shop, when he went in in the cvening. It was not
a fact that he was under the influence of ligquor at that time,
and that he made an insulting rsmark to her. In the
Re~Direct Examination, the complainant testified that
about two werks V'be:t_‘ore the day of the trial the dofendant

met him as he was coming to court through Bleecker Street.

defendant szid tkat if he the complainant, proscecuted him, -
he, the defendant would do to him, the complainant, as his
countrymen had done to Chief of Police Hennessy in New Orleans.

The doferdant asked him if he had read about that case, and he,

the complaimnt, said that he had; and thoen the defendant
said that if he prosccuted him, that he would do to him as

his countrymen had done to ,yennessy---that he would murder him,




the complainant » Or his countrymen would.

(;)FFICER STEPHEN GILLESPIE, testified that he was attached to

the 9t i : ’
h Precinct. The deferdant's barber shop was at 520

West Street, betwecn gansevoort and, Horatio Streects. He, the
{ >

witness,. was. . on—s—ry—orr— I CVCIIITIE O T AUSUS T 29T 1890, and
was in the neighbourhood of tho defendant's barber shop between
8 and 2 o'elock. He, the witness, was informed that there
was some trouble in the barber shop, and he ran down to it

and saw the complaimnt standing on the sidewalk with his head
leaning upon his hand and_ bleeding. He asked the complainant
what was the matter, and he said that "Mike, the Barber," had
cut him. He, the witness, saw that the complainant was badly
injured, and he '.rapped for assistance, and when assistance
came he s ent for an ambulance and had the delendant taken to
the Hospital. Then he, the witness, tried the door of the
barber shop and found it was locked. He demarded that the door

be opecned several times, but it was not opened. He broke open

the ‘doox; arnd found that the barber shop was empty. A door
leading from the barber shop into the engine room of the fact-
ory next door was opon. He went through this door and upstairs
in the factory and found the defendant and Miss Downey sitting
on the roof. He told the defondant that he wanted him down-
stairs, and on the sidewalk. The defendant asked, "What for?"

He, the witness, said, "¥or cutting the man with th~ razor '




The defendant said, "Well, if I hadn't cut him, he would
>

have cut me." He, the witness, took the defendant down-—

stairs, and the defendant inquired what had become of the

rlaimnt. And he, the witness, said that he had sent him to

the HOSpuita% -+ The defendant asked 5t N TU SUE St

he, the witness, said tlat he was, and thesn the defendant said

that he wished he had killed him. He, the witness, examined

the barber shop and found a couple of razors on the floor.
There was no blood on either of the razors, when he found thom.
He found a broken razor in the prisoner's pocket, and found

the blade bolonging to the razor on the floor. The defendant

gsaid that he had cut the complainant in self-defense. '.U'nd.er

Cross-Examimtion, the witness testified that he found
one whole ragzor on the floor and part of another-~-the blade
of another on the floor.

For the Defense

MIGCHA EL MEATLO, testified that he lived at 54 Spring
Street, and had been a arber for about 10 years. On August
29th, 1890, .he was the proprietor of the barber shop at 529
West Street. He knew the complairmnt by sight only. He saw
him on August 29th, 1890. He knew the complainant only as a

customere. He v em-mbered the complainant coming in on that

evening betwensn 8 and 9 o'clock. There were 8 or 7 customers

in the store, and Miss Downey was sitting there. She was sitt-

j
/




8
ng by:the window. The complaimnt sat down by Miss Dovwney
» and told her that he wanted to frig her, and Missg Downey
began to ery, and told him, the defendant , that the complain-

ant had insulted her. He, the defendant, said, "John, this is

not the way -tto talk to a Jlady.vw THQ‘&ﬁMﬂ1rs4“ R

call her a lady? She is only a bitch." He, the defendant,
gsaid, "If you want to talk that way you must go out of my

shop." The complainant said that he would not go out for him, 4
the defendant, or any one else. Thesn the complainant said, "If
you want to take that Lady's part, I will frig her and you too."
He, the defendant , said, "No, John; you will not do that;" and
he took the complaimnt by the arm, and the complainant kick-

ed him, and he kicked the complainant, and the complainant

turned to the shelf and caught up a razor and struck him upon

He,

the face with the razor--—-on the leftside of his face.

the defondant, then took up his razor, believing that the de-

Fendant would strike him again, and the complaimnt did

strike at him again, and he struck the barber's chair with
the razor and broke the razor, and then he, the defendant,

cut the complainant with his own razor, believing that the com-

plaimnt intended to take his lifes After the complainant got
out of the Hospital, the complainamt came imto his, the defond-
ant's barber shop and offered to settle the prosszcution for

$=200. He, the defendant, closed the door and locked it after




7
the complainant ran out, because he was afraid that the com-
rlaimnt would come back w ith a gang and he, the defendant

- ]
went into the engine room of the factory with Miss Downey and

went up to the vroof +o get out of the way of the gang He
¢ S

t he defendaxzf,m,“ did not tell: the officor sftier hie s i

he was sorry that he had not killed the complaimant. All

tlhat he said to the offiecer was that the complainant wanted to

hit him with a razor and that the complainant did hit him in
finnthagface with a razor and he cut the complainant because the
complainant wanted to kill him. Under

Cross-Examinat ion, the defendant also denied that he
threatened that if the complainant prosecuted him, that his
countrymen would murder the complainant as some of his country-

men had muodered Chiel of Police Hennessy at New Orleans.

LIZZIE DOWNEY, testified that she lived at 182

Allen Street. She was in the defendant's barber shop on the

night of August 28th, 1890. She was waiting for the defendant

to go hamne with her, and tho complainant came in and sat down

beside her, and made the insulting remark to her that the
deTendant lad testified to, and then she complained to the de-
fendant and he interferred in her behalf and tried to make
the complainant leave the shop and the complainant kicked the
The cﬁmplainant

defendant and attacked him with a razor.

was intoxicated. Und er




Cross—Examination, the witness testified that she was
not & prostitute, ang Was not known to the police .as g Pro-
stitute. her Sister-in-law' 8 sister was the defendant's wifo,.

She was hot.lg,vzng with the de:f’endant as his mistress. She was

& bookkeeper by profession.

CALCEDONTE DEL G A S &, testified that he was a bar-

ber by trade, and was employ ed by the defondant. He was engag~

ed in shaving a customer when tho complainant enteredsand he

saw 'the complaimant sit down by Miss Downey. He, the witness,

could not understand English, and he could not understand,

therefore, what the complainant said to Miss Downey, but he

saw Miss Downey crying, and then heard her say something to

the defandant. At that point he, the witness, finished shav-

ing th~ customer that he wag attending to, and went home.

OFFICER GILLESPIE, being re-called in rebuttal, test ii"i.ed that

on the night in gyuestion the complainant did not appear to be

intoxicated. He, the witness, smelled no ligquor upon his

breath. He saw the defendant’s face, and there was no mark

The defoendant did not call his attention to a cut or

upon it..

scratch on his face.




Tourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Trr PEoPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

SSAULT IN THE FI%DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said - —

laje _of the CQity of New York, A New TYork aforesaid, on the
WM% day of A= : in the year of our Lord

one thousand eight hundred and

County aforesaid, in and upon the body of one
in the Peace of fMe said People then and t
and | ——

with a certainﬂ,ﬁm/
~

which ghelgaid
N —
in right hand then and there had and held, the same being a deadly and

dangerous weapon, then and there wilfully and feloniously did strike, beat, cut, stab and

wound,
N \ - ~. /
with intent the said
thereby then and there feloniously zu1 1ill, against th rm of tle statute in
such case made and provided, and agai € peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.
SECOND COUNT—

AND 111 GRAND JUnRy AFORES.-\XD,Q)’_) this indictment, further accuse the said

“of the CriaE-orJASSAULT IN THE SECON sGREE, committed as follows:

The said o
N

late of the City aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the ¢ nty aforeg ith force and arms, in and upon the body of
the said in the peace of

the said

whicH tk ij

~
in right hand then and there had and held, the same being a weapon and

an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm, then and there teloniously did
, stab and wound, against the form of the statute in

such case made and provided, and ags p he State of New York,

and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

.. of the Crnye or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at ‘the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the said
in the peace of the said People then

- and there Dbeing, feloniously did wilfully and wrongfnlly make another assault, and

the said

with a certain

which the said
in right hand then and there had and held, in and upon the

of the said

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat, stab, cut, bruise and
wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully and wrong-

fully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace

of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
Distriet Attorney.
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Police Court—. District.

City and Gounty $ ah.:

of Felu Jork, %
| | o2 D }7 /‘/ A
of Vo. C/’ . é% /ﬁ//l/ﬂ vﬂ Street, aged
occupation (_O/(/—M &/MW ..being cZuZJ sworn

'deposes and says, that on the..... //7[ ........ day of ""ﬂ-//—/%;—ﬁy— 18973(775 the C'Lty of New
York, in the County of New le,

g/cm S

he was vivlently and fel{mz'm sly AIEA ULTED andBLEATEN by

‘ 227242 CEA. vz / Yty )

L 3P

W/%, CMMMWQW
%W

AerdC...a?— MWM P e 7

WW@W

with the felonious intent to take the life of deponent, or to do him gricvous bodily harm; and without

any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent prays that the said assailant may be apprehended and bound to answer

fm the above assault, ete., and be dealt with according to law.

Sworn to before wﬁz’é /4 9/72 day } /é&y\/ 9/%%

18y‘j




71‘7‘“—8.:&71 s 31059 uayny,

Sce. 195—200. Districet Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY ss
W YORK, :

A /4/% A being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is he——>right to
make o statement in relation to the charge against * Iz ; that the statement is designed to
enable h L1 if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the Jacts alleged against hisg
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that Iw_<r waiver cannot be used

against h 14 on the trial.

Question. hat is your name ?
Answer. WL

Question. How old are you ?
Answer. }7/

Question. Where wete you born ?

Answer. %&‘/L/

Question. Where do you 1i¥e, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. YD) ' MW%? froorsr— 2 5%

Question. What is your business or profession %

Question. Give any explanation you may think propor of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your "’
exculpation ?




20UIPIOY

—‘5}?§" $
? ‘E7d40%d IHT

I9MSUB 0]
s
o0 ‘/Q

93BI38ISBIY W

A 7 7T

1t appearing to me by the within depositions dnd statements that the crimetherein meniioned has been

commitied, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the wi%

ilfy thereof, I order that he / eld to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

“~
//’% Hundred Dollars, ; ; / the Warden and Heeper of

ﬂe City Prison of the City of New York, until &

js :4 / .
D@ . // / T 188 / » MOMM Justice.

vz

I have admitled the above-named

o bail Lo answer by the undertaking hereto annezed.

Police Justice.

Dated 188

T'here being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

guilty of the offence within méntz‘oned, Lorder he to be'dz"sckarged.

188 folz'cé Justice.




‘man James Turnor, of the Madison street station,

3 Mechan has:s manin for whipsing policemen and

UG L rene
L
MEEHAN'S MANIA. )
. . —_— N .l
R TARES ROSSESSION OF A CAR AND BEATS Tap'
: CONDUOIOR AND DRIVER.

Thomas Beehan, alias "Sklnnnr.f' of No. 851
dedison stroot, was arrestod yesterday 1y Patrol-

for. committing a murderous assnitlt with a car,
hook upon George D. Wright, a condnctor, and
Thomas Beacon, & driver, on the Madison street
railroad. -
Conductor Wright told Justice Hogan in tho Essex
Market Polics Court, when NMeoban was arraigned
on the chergo nf felonious assault, that the prisoner
had boardod his car, No. 13, at the Hoaunell streot
crossing at eiftht o'clock, eand when askod for his
faro had becomo violent. The conductor callod
upon thodriver for assistance, whon Meohan struck
both of thom +ith his fists, anq seizing the car
hook aimed # vicious blow at Beacon which missed
hid hond. 'Tho hook wus bont almost double by tho
forco of the blow, on the iron railing,
- Aftor this Mocha 11 -the windows in
thocar, and held Pposscasion of it until Policoman
Turner arcostod him. !

Hag'beon:sent to Blackwell's Island for oine months
for'assnulting &'patrolman. He has also beon ar-
3 ad;‘ton.’r bu: B

nmm}tted for ex-
. SN e
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tnr PEoPLE oF TirE STATE 0¥ NEW YORK,

against

Q%/ A P ) /7 Zzz//p«/w\_/;l«\

The Grand Jv %:i;id County of New York, by this indictment, accuse
of the Criax or ASSA& T IN THE FIRPT DEGREL com“utted as follows:
The said Q LA~

of the City of New York, i the, County of New York aforesaid, on the
! ”G«f//\J L Wn the year of our Lord

e thousand eight hundred and with force and arms, at the Cit ncl
= 3 b y

ounty aforesaid, in and upon the body of om, /
in the Peace of the Sfud People then and there bef .:ﬁ( tiously did make #f/ assgalt
and - the said ' . “~
— e

with a Celtdl]ICM _ W 4/(
Ve — .
“'hm%m %Wﬂ % W

in ) right hand then and theve had an - 4 emn ‘a deadly and
dangerous weapon, then and there wilfully and feloniously ¢ rike, beat, cut, stabd and

wound, \/‘é’ﬁv
C,
%(//l/\/ the said /() C

with intent
thereby then and there feloniously and wilfully to 1\11‘]/ -.L"[Llllbt the form of th(&. prtute in

such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of Mew York
and their dignity.
SECOND COUNT—
e - . . 3 0 .
Axp rime GuAND/Juny .-\J:‘(:n:las.-\l?,/ by this indigtment, further accuse the said

T e R / MM e

of the Criann or ASSA Lfl‘ N THI bLCOND DEGREE, committed as follows:
The mudcj/ } — .

late of the City wid County aloresaid, avfter\\"".'ds, to wit: on the day and in itlie year

aforesaid, at tfie, City and County aloresgidy witl fpree and Jlms/,/ ancd upon the body of
the said O3 A A in the peace of
the saidl ] People then gnd T fere bung, i(_Lomoubl y did Gwijfully and wronglully muke

another assault, and —— the said

ﬂ@ ZW%// A
with a certain C m /

which tl Stud%’YJ/L M
v o

right hand then and there had and held, the same being a weapon and
an instrument Wl%je-- grievous Dbodily harm, then and there feloniously did
wilfully and wrongfully Atrike, beat, cut, st und, against the formiof statute i
such case made and provid(ed, and against th Dof : ; Ik
and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CrivE or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the said
in the peace of the said Peuple then

and there being, feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully make another assault, and

the said

with a certain

which the said

in right hand then and there had and held, in and upon the
of the said

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat, stab, cut, bruise and
wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully and wrong-

fully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace

of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.
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Police Colurt— District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Qanttg}gg ) ﬂ@

of ety York, Lrrecd @%%%
of Wo.... / e e A Street, aqed years,
occupation H Zc ” Z &"’/7 h A being Auly sworn

.23 4 M
deposes and says, that on the aay of.. at the City of New

/&4 or. L, in the County of New, York, was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away, 7“7 om the possession
Q %

f deponent, in the time, the following property, viz :

/%ﬂ émmm /%éﬂ/& LX//@//C&Q
A Lo Falee. o LD Frniimro F
&/ﬂp«/ﬂé W pﬂ/ e (Al %%

/7&) N Y2 %W@P M@g

“ ﬂ-——y‘\ W

////J

the properly of- @{%W\

g
N
=
3
o
A1
S
S
=3
N
8
BN
oS
g
f".

and that this deponent

i,‘i and carried away by. 4G 4 Lt e / o /{//Le/ Zze
V%xam One Pood gk arieaZict ool
;. L @ﬁ\—é.é'/z/% bz Pach ALFz.

ﬁfm L2 Mmm ke is5 T o 7
%/L Aot soda M@c/A— -y

%WW%MM#%%

=2 & has a probable cause lo s /iu/s;ec{ and does su%ect that the said property was feloniously tak ken, stolen,
s 7

20 SNL 90107

/zmm e
dff/»mw Gerrit. ZZoal Ol m
ﬂv % m) %M/x//gé/u
%Lé%// s 7

(k.. P Rk orors o %K/%W/@




vl CeC Al

e

L

-




CITY AND COUNTY (
OF NEW YORK, {5

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Police Justice.




CITY AND COUNT
OF NEW YORK,

o YEATS,  OCCUPAtion..

says, that he lhas heard read the foregoing affidavit of..

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to befor

Police Justice.




A-—z_#/’_,

District Police Court.

Sce. 198—200.

}s
%M/ being duly examined before the under-

signed accordiy/g to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is hl right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h 4s ; that the statement is designed to
enable h&w— if he see fit to answer the charge and explam the facts allerred against h<C e
that The is at liberty to waive muking a statement, and that h e— waiver cannot be used

against h 4——— on the trial.

_Question. What is your name

__Question. How old are you?

~_A?%§7f’ff~__<2%_¢é Md :

___ Question. \Vve_lje you born ?
Answer. W

Question. Where4lo you live,
Answer. %

Question. Whatisvour business or profession *

_ Question. Give any explanation you may thinlkk proper of the circumstances appearing in the
T testimony aguainst you, and state any Tacts which you think will tend to your

exculp’ttlon

Amnswer.

10 fibp
Joq uayn

'ao?';zsn[_ 20110d
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the wim%&"mwmﬁoned las been
commiitted, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within named. F PE AEs ~

7

%qf, T order that Te be held to answer the same and he be admitted to bail
Hundred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden

the %on of the City of New York, until he
7 7 7 G
Date 1 188
7 0

in the sum of

and Keeper of

zPolice Justice.

I have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annezed.

Police Justice.

Dated 188

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

guilty of the offence within mentioned, I order . %o

be discharged.

Police Justice.

188




@ourt of Benernl Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tz ProrLE oF THE STATE 0F Nuw YORK,

against

%ﬂfuf ?M j

The Grand J&fyi‘ he City and (&vty of New York, by this indictment, accuse

R

of the Crimz or GRAND LARCI@’N/ n the 7 L*\M degree committed as follows :
The sai j -
late of the CIt¥ o in the County of New York aforesaid, on tlle%'~m
// q

New York,
day of WC/\_/m.the ear of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
“2 1 , in the \7/\\% — time of the said day, at the City and Coun ty

aforesaid, with Iofce and arms, >

g/m ~—tee o
\/(/\Z(/ML/ d

of the goods, chattels and perso property of one
on the person of the said /l/(/(/é

then and there being found, from the person of the sai
then and there feloniously did steal, take g Wi v 1 d : iy tatute in such

case made and provided, and against the peace |of the eople of the State of New York and their
dignity- - %}v




SECOND COUNT—

AND THHE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the OrivE or RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows:

The said

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unkmnown, then Ilately before

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have; the said

then and there well lknowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, talken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
Distriet Attorney.




IPTION:

Memmer, John

DATE:

10/27/90

T
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HE PEOPLE,
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@onrt of Gerreral Scessions of the Weace

OF TIIE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tur ProrLe or Tur STATE oF Nrw York,

againsi

(Chap. 183, Laws of of a, MISDEMTA?
1885, § 1. as amended

by Chap. 577, Luws of

886, §1.)

Iate of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

,

7

k/Q,e/Q/o—M day of &/ in the year of our Lord

one thousand eight hundred and %-W@ , at the City and County aforesaid,

did unlawfully expose lor sale tiwee quarts of unclean, impure, unhealthy, adulterated
and unwholesome milk {the same nnt being skimmed milk produced in the said County),
against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




(§160, Sanitary Code

SECOND COUNT:

And the Grai_l Jury aforesfid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

TARY CODI: OF TIIE Boarp oF HEALTH OF THE

IE CITl\ oxﬁ N 1? K, committed as follows:
The said ,\ : ,‘X/! ) W-

e

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, did unlawfully keep, have and offer for sale,
three quarts of milk which had been and was then and there watered, adulterated, reduced
and changed by the addition of water and other substances to the Grand J ury aforesaid
unknown, and by the removal of cream, against and in violation of the Sanitary Code of
the Board of Health of the Health Department of the City of New Yorlk, duly adopted
and declared as such at a meeting of- the said Board of Health, held in said city on the
second day of June, 1873, as amended in accordance with Iaw, and particularly in viola-
tion of a certain ordinance thereof, to wit: the one hundred and eighty-sixth section of
said code, which is as follows, that is to say:

“No milk which has been watered, adulterated, reduced or changed in any respect
by the addition of water or other substance, or by the removal of cream, shall be brought
into, held, kept, or offered for sale at any place in the City of New York; nor shall any
one keep, have or offer for sale in the said city any such milk.”

‘Which said section and ordinance above set forth was, by a certain resolution, duly
passed and adopted by the said Board of Health and by said Health Department, at a
meeting thereof dnly held in said city on the twenty-third day of February, 1876, added
to and made a part of the said Sanitary Code aforesaid, and adopted and declaved to
form a portion thereof, pursuant to the authority and power conferred by law upon the
said Board, and which said ordinance was thereafter duly published once a weelk, for two
successive weeks, in the City Record, a daily official newspaper and journal published
in the said city, to wit: in the issues of such newspaper of the twenty-fourth day of
February, 1876, and also of the second day of March, 1876, and which said Sanitary Code
so amended and altered was then and there, at the time of the committing of the offense
hereinabove alleged, in full force and operation, and was by law declared to be binding

and in force in said city, and which said section and ordinance above set forth was then

and there in full force and virtue, having been in nowise altered, amended or annulled by

said Board of Health, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.

~
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endel, Benjamin
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10/02/90
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Police Court— District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Conntp X

Street, aged....... 55 ...... years,

being duly sworn

occupation y W
day of WW 18Z0ut the City of New

deposes and says, that on the /

York, in the County of New York, was feloniowsly taken, stolen and carried aa ay Jromthe possession.
\

of deponent, in the. LVA LYY # time, the following propeyty, viz:

gy

7 ULOMG

UL I.

P
y

]
S thgproperty of

v H . B LT TR
A
8 ’as a probable cause to susy, ¢, and does suspect, that the said property was feloniously laken, stolen,
-~ ~

= and that this deponcni

4 Ao

[ mmmwaa

|

V/W

and carried away by L AAAAAAN
Gvrn 1, Dol Loty vttt |
Mo il alordd 7 ]
......... \/’W/ MM'// Al
P.IN.. DolagFecn /0" /f/?y

PYSIL 207104




CITY AND COUNTY ss
OF NEW YORK, )

23

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Police Justice.




Distriet Police Court.

Sec. 198—200.

being duly examined before tl\ue under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and bemfr informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the charge a,(ra,mst //L.,.,—tlnt the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that §h W waiver cannot be mused

against h (2~ on the trial.

... Question. VYOt is your name? . .
- ﬂ
Answer. . ‘A4 W

Question.  How old#ire you ?

 Answer.. [ 7 g ///W

. Question. Wlhere were you born ?

Answer.
_Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?
_Answer. % ’7 &
Question. What is your business or profession 7
__Answer.
ve any explanation you m‘Ly think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state a.ny facts which you think will tend to your
exculpatlon i

estion.  Giv

Answer.

‘/%/@Q uayny,

|

oy b 9.

-~

DIYSIL 29370
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£557

1.

Offence ..\ /‘

657111}
.0"?1]5[&'" T ettt a e RAlESSYCILTTr Yy SO

'l;)n,lao.xd""""'Z«/-.

Tt appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the cz Za{;here nmentwneﬁ has beern
/é ot et 7 Lot

committed, and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the within nanved

Suilty thereof, I order that e be held to answer the same and he  be admitted to bail in the sum of’
/ Ly - Hundred Dollars and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Pri Lson of the City of New Y orle, until ‘a\_uch bail.

/Q (/C/ & ///2’,- 189? /, 7/—)?7//}//&-— -//f' e Palice Justice.

Dated

N
o

I have admiitted the above-named,

to bail o answer by the undertaking lereto anneved.

8 Police Justice.

Dated

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Luilty of the offence within mentioned. Torder n  tobe discharged.

»
Police Justice.

Dated...eeo




Address, Box 172.

Banking House of GiLman, Son & Co.,
No. 62 Cepar STREET,

New-York, (Ock., 270 [8?&
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@ourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tix ProPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

of the CriME OF GRAND LARCENY IN THWWL,(/( DEGREE, committed
as follows :

"L s Pl

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the/ZW

day of in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and Mq?,
~———————— -, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of 01%W

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of
the People. of the State of New York, and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

t

S
LLY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY committed as follows :

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

= A .y

-
D

/ fo7
of the goods, chattels and personal property of one //”

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

Pteridede ——

then and there well ku6wijlg the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, takentthd carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New Yorlk and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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Mendel, lvan
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Witnesses ;

Counsel,
Ee”
Filed

74
T
PleadsC\ 4

2

Forgery in the Second Degree,
(Sections 511 and 521, Penal Code.)

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.

Foreman.
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Peolice @(@w‘laéj ﬂ%%ﬁl”%@ﬁa

City and County '
gf New York, } 88

-\
Street, aged 24 years,
occupation ., . being duly sworn, deposes and says,
that on the S 18?07 , at the City of New




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

and that the facts stated therein on information of d ponent

are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to 2

Lolice Justice.
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499 wayng

L0

Sce. 198—200. . District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY |
OIF NEW YORK, . j§

%’4% M being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is hes- right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h~?- °; that the statement is designed to
enable h 22> " if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against ~ 7 -~ =~
that he 1is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that k== ~waiver cannot be used

against J2=—~"  on the trial.

Question. What is your name?
Question.  Iow old are yon ?

Answer. &7 gz alz

Question.  Where were you born 7

58,

Amnswer. A 7

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there 7

Answer. J &) & = % —_— z2 e & &= 7 E

Question. What is your business or profession 7

Answer. /&»/J

Qrestion.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
N testimony aguinst you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the erinme therein mentioned fvas been

convmitted, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the withirn naned
be held {g nswer the same and  he be admitted 1o bail in the swm of

y@y thereof, I order that he
>
- < ’ZZ/M Hundred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the ,C'ity I’ri{snn, of the City of New York, until  he

Datcd'éé'/bz% 2” QB d 7 / .- Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-named,. .

to bail to answer by the wundertalking lereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated 8

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named....

- GUELLY of the offence within mentioned. I order to be dischargded.

o Police Justice.
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@ourt of General Fessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tnr PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YoOREg,

against

of the Criyz o RGERY IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The sgi

late of the City of New York, in fthe ,Coynty of New York aforesaid, on the

day of in the year of our Lord
one thou it hundred and ’ » with force and arms, at the City and

County aforesaid, feloniously did forge, zmc:i se and pro ‘V% to be forged, and willingly

act and 1551st in the ifﬂorgm a ce1%m instrpment and writing, 7 A —

wliidh said forged W

is as follows, that is to say :

/

- with intent to defraud, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and
against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, di% feloniously utter,

dispose of and put off as true, a certain f rged instrument and writing, Cer~F .
7

L. Ao v - @\/%‘ W W
o /CZS/ W \/%W/ﬂ//

which said forged
is as follows, that is to say:

Ao 43,
A

—

—

7 —— ‘_/.’,,._
&nﬁl} intent to defraud . %/(/ the said o M%
\’E‘\ then and there well knowing the same to be

forged, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the Ppeace
of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

Districet Attorney;
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DESCRIPTION:

Monahan, James

DATE:

10/14/90

T

3826




Counsel, :
'i Filed /Zl
i Pea,dc(//' s

THE PEOPLE

52

[Sections

Grand Larceny saeog, degree,
8, 53),590, Penal Code}

P Fiva pout SRS

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Atlorney.
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A True Bill.
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Court of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tie PEOPLE OF TUE STATE OF NEW YORK,

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yorlk, by this indictment,

accuse. z PP VST DA e

of the CriME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE /oo~ o3 DEGREE, committed

as follows :

The saidw B et S VAV

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the M

~

day of @< aRena~  in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred andeni-\K

——— , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

g A oS ey R K Rgts =X

of the goods, chattels and personal property of oneSR S o~ Scom T XS o nger,

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of
the People of the State of New York, and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CriME oF CRIMINALLY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY committed as follows:

The said \‘ QM /\CN\M\OD\.\M
late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

M"—iﬁ \&o—& Ny
W” .
of the goods, chattels and personal property of ONER S e Do T X g,

P

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before

feloniously stolen, talken and carried away from the said QoD . % NaongAr. -

unlawfally and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have; the said

%M\ks—w\—&»w

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
Distriet Attorney.
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Montague, Lizzie B.
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Police Court— . District. Aflidavit—Larceny.
@ity and Conntp } -

of Pew Pork, 7 ﬁ ,
' % \jﬂl/\f i (oo W
or IVo. // / s g i / Strect, aged.... SS2F4. years,
occupation, /@--——zc—m Jo being duly sworn

deposes and. sa.’!/-s‘., that on the s Y of ' 18 Feut the City of New

XYork, n the County of New York, was felonioysty taken, stolen and carried away from the wossession

of deponent, in the

the property of WA
4

and that this deponent

has @ probable cause to S/’lcy/nn@ does suspect, that the said properly was Jeloniously laken, slolen,

and carried away by v?‘ pas /% P WKM <




A0 fivp

7

/ %ﬁ

(&

7]

e
@‘gt

Boysn/ IoT0g

Sec. 198—-200.

COUNTY

g
% District Police Court. -
YORK, /
4
Aol ,mﬁw being duly examined before the wunder-

according to law, on the a,nn@ﬂd cha,rg}; and being informed that it is h 5/7/1'ight to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ¥ that the statement is designed to
enable h >3 itQhe see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h S— -
that Vhe s at liberty to waive making a statement, and that L YX—-waiver cannot be used

l
’ 88,

against h S on the trial.

.. Question.. Wh _‘styeur_.name_?..,

f - o

. Answer. .

. Answer.
__Question. "Where do you live, and how long have you 1'/{3232& there ?

;__._.A?z_é:?:,v?ﬁ //ﬁ’ | 7%4/ éi//%f\/w/ -

- Question. WVh@t is your business or profession ¢

_ Answer. @6;% e e .

—.Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation?

Answer. Q
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Lé appearing lo nie by the within deposilions and stalcinends that Lhe crine therein menticned Juas been

committed, ard that there is sufficient cawse to believe the witlin nanvcd /

he  be admitted to bail in the sum of

Guilty thereof, I order that e be held to answer the same and
/ Hundred Dollars and be commiitted to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison, of the City of New Yorlk, until he  gifye sucl bail.

..... 7 Wf s AP e Police Justice.

Dated

I have admitted the ahove-named...

to batl to answer by the undertaking lvereto annexed.

o -
-

Dated. : . 18 Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawse to Lelicve the within named

Suilty of the offerce within nventioned. 1 order

"""-'J,J'nOQ o0If0d

Loy

A2

oL

v tobe discharged,

Police Justice.




Gourt of Genernl Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tz PEoPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

against
K‘ﬁ}d/(/.c @W\
77 | — |
Aand Jury of the r gnd County of New York, by this indictment,

of the CRiME oF GRAND LARCENY IN TW DEGREE, committed

as follows :

. v'/_\
The said L_é) .
L AT

iy of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred/an

, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one % @/‘WL/‘

L

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of
the People of the State of New York, and their dignity.




" SECOND COUNT—

AXD THE GRANpP JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CrinE o

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chz}ttels and personal property of one

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforbsaid unknown, then lately before

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said 0" @(/VW/ v

unlawfully and u ly, did feloniously receive and have; the said
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

then and there well

JOI—II\I R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
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DESCRIPTION:

Moore, John

DATE:

10/01/90

0

3826




BOX:
414

FOLDER:
3826

DESCRIPTION:

Cooney, Michael

DATE:

10/01/90

I

3826
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S Witnesses " Counsel,

Filed
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e -
Police Court— y District.

Evron loers

of No. O ¥ e 2— & Z Street, aged......: years,
occupation M ol P being duly sworn
deposes and says, that on the 297 day of/m L~ 1840 at the City of New

York, in the County of New Yurk,

@ity und Connty g oy
of Feto ok, h

She was vivlenily and feloniously ASSAULTED and BEATEN by

Lo afe-qld “ to do lilgricvous bodily harm; and without
any justification on the paré of the said assailant ‘

IV]I;C"?'C_’]PO?'G this deponent prays that the said assailant may be apprehended and bound to answer

Jor the above assault, ete., and be dealt with according to law.

worn to befor. G, this ‘j‘—- dan,
e %‘_&f/@} p// 4@%%

ri ... %&0‘—6 LPolice Justice.




State of Few Hork,
€ity and County of Few Hork

of No. . j% il J —ed . Street, being duly sworn, deposes and says,

thut% % (now present) is the person of the name of

—
.mentioned in deponent’s affidavit of the.. . 2 N A

day of Y ETe ) o IO Sﬁ%h reunto annexed.
-
Sworn to beforeme,

day of’,

PoLiceE JusricE.
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See. 198200, 22— Distriet Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY} o “
OF NEW YORK,

%4 / 4/ M being duly examined before the under-

signed according fo law, on the annexeq/ charge; and being informed that it is _W>" right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against ‘l%% y that the statement is designed to
enable lr2-2«». if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against; -
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that (h"" “waiver cannot be used

against IJC)"/‘ on the trial,

vastmn _What is your name? o ) . o

I A4 /&4%

Question. How old are you? . I
Answer.  SA—t L re LT
Question.  Where were you born ?

Answer. - 4

Qwes-tv'ow VVhele do vou live, and how lono' have you resided there ?

wnsor. == pers 85 _Spms S ey

Question. What is your busmess or plofessmn i

Amnswer.

nestion.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
y I ¥y y prop

testimony “against you, and state any facts which you thmk will” tend to your
exculpation ?
7

Answer. ﬁ/éé(’/c/g kM\




20sRL 9930

Distriet Police Court.

Scc. 198—200.

being duly examined before the under-
rned according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is Jies" right to

make a statement in relation to the charge against (l"l-—r * ; that the statement is designed to

enable i > if he see it to answer the charge and explam the facts alleged against

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and tlnt h ==wWaiver cannot be‘ used

against (}(7’1—3 on the trial.

_Question. What

Answer,

Question:” How old are you ?

Amnswer. %_ %&&_17

Question. "Where were you born ?
P ¥

Answer.

Qnesl?fon. ‘Where do you live, and how ]onrr h'we you 1'es1ded thele

Answer. j ?5— - %; g //5;

Question. What is your busmeqs or plofessmn ?

Answer.

Quest/on. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against” you, and state any facts which you think will tend t’b your
exculpation ?
i




Sec. 151. « . Police Court,f _District.

CITY AND COUNTY } ss. A the name of the People of the State of New York; Tothe Sheriff of the County
OF NEW YORK, of New York, or any Marshal or Policeman of the Uity of New York, GREETING ;

Justices for the City of New York, by

Z Ll

‘Whereas, Complaint in writing, and&oalh. has been mjs before the undersigned, one of the Police
2 Street, that on the..

18}%& the City of New Vork, in the County ofNe;\v York,

Iy
g’he was viol&mBeaten by

Wherefore, the said Complainant has prayed that the said Defendant may be apprehended and bound to

answer the said complaint,

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of York, to command you f%
Sherylf, Marshals and Policemen, WQh and every of you, to apprehend the said Defendant and bring .2

forthwith before me, at the DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence
or inability to act, before the nearest or most accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said charge, and to

be dealt with according to law.
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The Defendant{i

taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to g
the within charge, pursuant to the command con-

tained in this Warrant.

aI[} 0} WO BUIIIEXS

Dated....

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday or at

night.

PRWRU-UTIEIM ST,

=" 55 )

“9ISNL 90190

o . Police Justice.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crinve therein mentioned has been

commiitted, and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the within named
&l ce- Z

answer the same and Chety be admitted {o bail in the sum of

Luilty theregf, I order thit /7 he De Neld ¢
, <
At Hundred Dollars d—’% and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City P;’Wit_y of New York, until he /%ﬂ. &
" Dated / e /W %57 18 /(? ‘E)/ /"(,/@/»/f///‘/ LEZS Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-namer .....

to bail to answer by the undertaling hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated 18

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Luilty of the offence within mentioried. I order i tobe discharged.

18 Police Justice.




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF TuE: STATE oF NEW York,

against

R

THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this
O O D W
indictment, accuse é Tes
ofthe CRIME or RAPE, committed as Tollows :
. The said I S P NP e D,
B S N WS, - U %@w\‘ E—

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

MM day of bM&» in the year of our Lord one thousand

eight hundred and at the City and County aforesaid ith
» 2.8 Yy ong 155 3’ y W

J'a\.\n_
force and arms, in and upon a certain fomale not hxs-uufe, o wit: one
= A, — then and there being, wilfully and,

>
feloniously did make an assault, and her the said % = e ,
then and there, by force and with violence to her the said %
= e » against her will and without her consent, did wilfully
and felomousiy’q\mwsh and carnally know, against the form of the Statute in such case

made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY ATFORESAID, by this indictment, further

accuse the Silidw WW

of the CriME or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, com-

mitted as follows :

. The S'ud ' ‘ s oD

late of the City and County mfmes*ud aitelw'uds, to wit: on the day and in the year
a; s’ud at th 1ty and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon a certain

for
fema,le ,{1-1-9—“#9,,\1,0 wit: her the said RS D werla , then

and there being, wilfully and feloniously did make another assault, with intent her the
said w e = 1 against her will and without her consent, by
force and violence, to then and there wilfully and feloniously ravish and carnally know,
against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further

accuse the saim'w -~ . -

ef&; e Crivx oF RAPE, committed as follows :
The said

late of the City and .County aforesaid, aftél_‘wards, to wit: On the day and in the year

. . \ v . . . .7
aforesaid, at the City and Countz aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon a certain
- n_a)&;nn.' Ry P R
female not his-wife, to wit: her the said = TShajo. D oo , then

and there being, wilfully and feloniously did make another assault, and an act of sexual
intercourse with her the sald T Dmnlow Do~ Ay

then and there wilfully and feloniously did,gommit and perpetrate, against the will of the

> - - - -
sald — e o TS o and without her consent ; against

the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

FOURTH COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further

accuse the saidww%w W

of the CriME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, com-

mitted as follows:

S e c— .

- The said’
L4

M

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the year
‘Eforeszkigl, at 61{1‘(3 Cgﬁz and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon a certain

female not fis—wife; to wit: her the said o TS ol —_— ,

then and there being, wilfully and feloniously did make another assault, with intent, an

act of sexual intercourse with her the said - T oy T

»
against her will and without her consent then and there wiltully and feloniously to commit
and perpetrate, against the form of the Statute, in such case macle and provided, and against

the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

FORN-R-EELLOWS __Diciuics dtioxnes
- y 290,




TS S XL .

Dy o~a o D - .. .
P THE GRAND J URY e - C e DO ot R R o R I Foxnx, by this indictment, acense-
~ , DY 2

of the CriMr or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said \g\w A e T W

.

late of the City and County of New Yorlk, on the W day of
P M , in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
ei»g'-}l-t-}n,.;_&_(, with force and arms,at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon one
T RS o,
in the peace of the said People then and theve being, feloniously did wilfully and
wronglully make an assault; and the said e TN e o D
b N N, -
wqj;h a certain A Ram M, _ M the said
in LS o, right handss then and there had and held, the same being then and there
a weapon and an instrument and—weapon- likely to produce grievous bodily hzu-m’,ﬁqm PO

M the said VL o Soowrins then

and there_felonioysly_did wilfully and wrongfully strdeesbeat onmSun AQ.Q:..EK_ D
Agranaa SR UA T and grongiully strike-beat o )

berdse-and—weound, against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and

against the peace of the People of the State of New Yol and their dignity.

Wﬂcw
ﬁ,(cﬁn:?\’;




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CriMe or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said

Iate of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the

said

in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously did wilfully and
wrongfully make another assault; and the said
the said

with a certain

which the said .
in right hand then and there had held, in and upon the
of the sai&

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strile, beat
bruise and wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously,
wiltully and wrongfully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said
to the great damage of the said
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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McCarthy, Edward

DATE:
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District.

/
Police Cou_rt—

ity and Connty
of few. Pork, [

of* NVo.

occupation

being duly sworn

18 %zt the City of New
1%, was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away fromthe possession

A0
%S,

’l\@.

q 07

# cz
bl ot sl (jé%g Al
the property qf(/w //U\ W

>

S

' S
B
S
Co

Ry
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——————

. -and that this deponent
has a probable cause to suspect, and does suspect, that the said property was

Jeloniously taken, stolen,
and carried away by %/(/é(/t WQ/M Aol @W 27
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CITY AND COUNTY {
OF NEW YORK, |5

~
reet, being duly sworn-deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of
and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.




CITY AND COUNTY L s
OF NEW YORK, (5%

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to befo@e, this
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See. 192—200. District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY ss
e

OF NEW YORK, - '
A AN .being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and be(ipg informed that it is h €A right to
make g statement in relation to the charge against b 1 ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if \he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that Jhe is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h¢ 4 waiver cannot be used

against h ¢ on the trial.

Question. What is your name ?

Answer. ()/l /t/:(_;(/(//t W(}W

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. %‘W”&/M

Question. "Where were you born ?

Answer. W /&/Z( /Q//( _//(/{ O

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. 2— 2-0 M/( W /% o 6 el C’{//

Question. 'What is your business or profession ?

Answer. /@)»/L/(’ M_/VV( A ({//(

Question. Give any explanation yon may think proper of the cireumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

:ﬁpaﬁon?
Answer. T CL 211 ')/M %/M////z;\ -




j
j
i
i

Sec. 198—200.

§

District Police Court.

¢ AND COUNTY : )
NEW YORK, }SS' (
) being duly examined before the under-

s>igned according to law, on the annexed chzu'g’e ; and Veing informed that it is h é right to
makc a statement in relation to the charge against ~De oy that the statement is designed to
enable\_]y\_,\v\ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he

- . . . A . d
is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h walver cannot be used
-

against h ~~i~_on the trial.

Question.
Answer.
Ques{z’on.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.

Answer.

Question.

‘What is your name?

@MM A& M /Q&u/()%

How old are you?

) 7@1'@

‘Where were you born'?

Vet A T

Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

What is your business or profession ?

Give any explanation yon may think propor of the cirenmstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?
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to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime theréin mentioned has been

It appearing

committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named

// R \
eld to answer the same and e / be admitted to bail in the sum of

W
o

Hundred Dollars f /&C/@/é

8

of New Yorlk, untit” (K
1857)

L

£

I have admitted the above-named,

to bail to answer by the wundertaling lereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated 18

There being no sufficient cause to belicve the within named

Guilty of the offence within mentioned. I order I iobe discharded.

Iolice Jwstice.

D(Lﬁ(;ﬂ{




Court of General Sessions of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tue PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YOREK,

M%CLQWJ

</

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment,

of the CrrME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE 2€ v oS X DEGREE com.
as follows :

late of the City of New Yok, in the County of New York aforesaid, on thW
day of / in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and Mw@ s
~ » at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

e ey K b,
O %&W mﬁ(wf/:w?? da@;i

ZQO@%QM%C%

M/W

@“W%%

of the goods, chattels and personal pr operty of on @%OC\

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
against the form of the statute in such case madé)and Provided,  and against the peace of
the People of the State of New York, and thei




SECOND COUNT—

AND THHE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CrinE oFr CRIMINALLY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY committed as follows :

The said

... late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did teloniously receive and have; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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District Attorney.
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ourt. Q.

TH:E PEROPLE COURT OF GENFRAL SESSIONS, PART

VESe
JAMES MORAN. BEFORE JUDGF MARTINE.

Thursday, October 30, 1890.
Asst. Dist. Atty. Davis for the People.

Mr. MeLaughlin for the Defendant.
Irdictment for robbery in the first degree.

A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

Patrick Mcemnma sworn and examined by Mr. Davis:

Mr. Mclenna, where do you live? A. Mo. 835 Third Ave.

What ic your business? A. Night watchman.

Wnereahouts do you waich? A. 113th St. and the

River.

ourt. Q. Where do you say you live? A. 835 Third .“ve.

Davis. Q. Onn the 25th of August 18606, 4id youse~ this de-

feidant ? A. Yes sir.
Where were you when you first saw him?

salocnt cormer of 27th Sireew and Seventhh Averme.

four c'elock in the morn-

What time was 1it¢? Ae About
ing.

NDid you go to that saloon alone cr with soemebody else?

I went with Thomas Ware.

Youa ard he went in there together? A. Yes sir.
" e

Was this Defendant in the saloon when you went in?

Yes sir.

Go back a lititle it and tell us where you met Thomas

Ware, what time it was® A. I met him on 27th Surect

near 8ih Avenue. ' .
A. Yes sir.

Yos about the

avis. . 27th St. near 8th Ave.? Yos sir,

fro ..

A« I was in th

/;’
e

Y

2




cormnerand we went down to this saloon -—-- he asked me —--

Did yvewn know Ware before that time? A. Vo sir, I never

seen him before.
Who spcke Lirst? A. Ware.
What did he say to you? As Therc was a girl sjoke to me
on the corner, it was a colored girl. What makes you talk
to them colored pecple/’he saysy There was a colored girl

walkine mast and she spoke to me.

I object.

Q. A colored girl was tallting to you? A. Yes,
Ware came up and said, Ywhat made you talk to them people,
they will rob you. She says, "if he goes with you you
will scox robh him."
You wert withh Ware +to the saloon? A. Yes sir, lie asked
me for twenty cents, that hie was dry and vanicd = drink
and was on oa drunk. I t0ld him I had no money first.
You had not seen this man at that time? A. No, I had
1not seen nim until I woent in.
What time was it you met \Jare? A. About four o'clock
i the morning.
Who first spoke of going the salcoon? Ah. Vare.
Did youa goe with him?
Where did you go¥ a to
comer store.
This wng z2bout Tour ¢'ecleoek in the morning?
about four.
Whenr your ot in there Qho was i the store?
There was seven or eight of these men.
Court. Q. ‘There were seven or eight beside the bar-tender?

Yes sir.




Davis. Q. Who were they? A. That man and the rest of the

prisonecrss

Court. 0 HIMoran this man was one? A. Yes sir, he was
one.

Pavis- Q. Do you know anybody clse who was there?

Yes sire.

Who? A. The rest of the prisoners.

Court. Q. Do you know their names, have you since learned

their narmess A. I do not mind their names.

Davis. 0. Do vou see any of them in Court wihie were thierc?

-

Yes sir, there was Morrissey and Con:.or was there.
Thomas <. Connor, William Lynch, Patrieck Morris, Ford,
Johr W. O'Brien and Hicheal Coogan, were they there?
Yes sir, ihey were all there.

That makes eight including thic defendant?

Anyboedy else? A 4 bhe I mind of.

Well now, when you went in there who syolke Lirst ol' all
these yeople that were in there and what was said?

When I geve him the twenty cents —---

Court. Q. Where did yo.i give him the twonty cemts, in the

salocrn: or outside? A. Outside, he tock me ine. At

Pirs+ I woald notgo with him but I went in.

Wnat happened when you got in? A. Ware introduced them

all to me.
Davis. Q. What did he say? said these vwere all
friends of his.

Did he nention any of them by namne?

No sir.

How did vou know what persons he had reference to?

I seen them all siznding at the bar, they were all standing




at the bar. Ware asked me what I would have? So I

said I would have a glass of sarsaparilla; he had a glass

of heer and the rest had all beer only one fellow had

wniskey.
Did Moran stand =t the bar? A. ¥Yes sir, Moran
drink tco0.

Did ne nave a drink?

You canmot be mistsken about that this is the man?
. b

No sir, nct a bit. that is tilie man.

Well, whe jaid for these drinks? 2 raid Tor them

forty-Tive cents.

Whnere did you gat the money? . I had i+ in my pocket.

You toek it out of your ; ocket? A. Yes, 1 had some
sinall change in this wvest pocket.
Nid youa have any other properiy? A. I had a watch and

twelve dollars.

Where was this poceket, the righ+t hand fob rcckesr of your
trousers? A. Yes sir.

What kind of z vwaieh was 1it? A« It was a silver wa ich.
Was it goins, Adid it keop time? A. Yes sir.

How much was it wortii, a couplec of dellars?

sir, more than that.

Five dollars® A. Yes sir. woth more, I could not tell
you how rruen it was wowth.

It was not wortn forty dcellars? A. Ot no sipr, i1t was
not.

WVhat kind of a c¢hain was 1t%? A. It was a brass chain.

Were the dhain and the watch worth ten dollars together?

Yes sire.




and the chain was on

ivest pocket? A. Y

small change<

i
i

By the Court. Q. Both hands:

|

Q’
Q.

Now »McFemma, you say that your wvatch was in your pocket

the watch and both together were wortin

ten dollars, is that right? A. Yes sir.

You said also that you had some money in your right hand

Yes sir, some small change.

How riich money nad vyou in your left hand vest vocket,

A. I could not swear how rmuach, I might

have about seventy-Five or eighiy cents in it

How mich did you have in your pocket? A. I had twelve

dollers.

In wha+t shape? A. A ten dollar biil and a two dollaor

bill.
Did vou tale it out while you were in the salcon?

Yes sir, I took it out and atser the deink was over I

turned o go out.
You say mow that you itreated and you raid for it and the

change you had in your left hand vest pocket? A. Yes sir.

ATter the drinking what was done, what tock place after

that? A. I turned around from the bar for to go out

and I ecaught one ¢of them with their hands sticking in my

it pocket.

¢ A. Yo, only one hand sticking in

2"
the pocket where I had the watch and money.

Who was it do you know? A. I think it was Lynche.

Which pockst? A. The Tob pocket of the pants.

By Mr. Davis. Q. After you paid Lo~ your drink amnd put the sparec

change in your vest pocket did you immediately turn to go

out of the saloon? As Yes sir.

Up to *hat time had you taken out those bills?

No sir.




|

i

As vou turned you say vou felt somebody 's hand in your
pocket"? A. Yes sir.

Wnieh pocket? A. The Tob pocket here of my pants,
where the watch was, I had the watch and the money, the
ten dollay bill amd the two dollar bill.

Did yow have the ten dcllar bill and the two dollar bill
in the same pocket with the wateh? A. Yes sir, right
together.

Was +the chiain hanging out? : had it secured 1.

avis. Q. You felt scmebory's hand in your pocket where yoar

v

fwateh and money was? A. Yes sir.

yvyou do vwhern you felt it? I pushed them

my two hands.
Who was it that ycu pushed back? . think it was
Lynch.
Cour+t. ¢ You said them, do yc¢.. rmean more than
Yes sir, they were 21ll standing up against me, I pushed
themin 221 back Ffrom me the best I could.
Davis. Q. Do you know whosgse hand it was was in your poeket 1
Lymeh.
Are vou sure it was Lynch or do you only think

Lyrnch? Ae. No, I am s.ue it was Lynch.

! What did you do then? A. I made for to get out of Lhe

saloon, the door was lecked and 1 could not get out.
Which decr did you go to? A. On the side door.

That was locked, was 1it¥ A. Yes sir.

What nex»t did ycu do after that? A. I put back in the
salcen, I could not get out -—---

You were in the salcon? A- I was but I was going cut

anrd the door was locked, I wront and tried the door to pull




t
1
b

it to go out.
You wen* forth tothe side door, didn't yvou?
Yes sir.
That was A. That was leccked, I could not go
out.
What did you do then? A. I had to ge back to the
and they were pulling me.
were -pulling at you? A. I could not tell when I
running.
sec 1is ran there, the Deferdant?

m at t Ae door while 1 was striving to
to the side door, did you and yocu found it lecked

anybody at the side dcor? A. Yes, there was +two
men at the side door.
Do you ¥rnow their names? forr-et their names.
Did you see them in Court on the last triazali? A. Yes sip.
Do you ¥knoew what was done with them? A. I could not say
Was this man one of them (the def'endant), one ol them who
was at the door? A+ No sir, he was the next man that
keprt me, he was behiind me at the door.
Was tha+t man at the side door whenn you went there to go
out? A. Yes sir.
What did he do whiler you were trying to get out?
I ecould ncot tell, I secn him at the docr, he was standing
up on his feet at my back.
Behind you then? A. Yes sir, behind.
Who was elostest to the door? A. I was closest to the

door nesnr the wwo men that was there.




Don't vou understand my question, I asked you when You
got to the side decor was anybody at the side door?

Yes sir, there was Ltwo.

Who were they? A. I Torget their names.

Was this man one of them? A. Yo, he was behind me.
He was not standing necar the door? “o No, he was

behind me as I was going to the docr.

When yeu got to the door did these two men standing there

Jde anything to you? A. Yes sic, they hit me and

i kicked me.

'Wheredid they hit you? A. I got =z box there (peinting o
the forenead.)

You get a punchh in the forenezd? A. Yes sir.

Now up +c that time nad you seen Moran behind you?

Yes sir, I seen him while they were all at the docr behind

me .

Just aboutit thie time? A. Yes sir.
Wnere vwere you kicled? A. I got a kick here in the legp-

Did you sen who did that? I think it was O'Brien

¢ did thab.

i

i o . . .

;;Ana all those blecws “ere inflicted upon you while you vwere
i

s

near this side door?

PAnd this man Mogran wsas behind you? A. Yes sir.

How many others wvwere behind you? There wvere six of
them behind me and twe in front of me the door.

How far dAid voa have to go Leom the bhar where this de-
Tendmari was standing in order to get to the door where ycu
vere kicked, how many fsct about? A s far

as it is over to where he is sitting from me.

This was belvre you ot siruck? : sir, at the time, .




Qe
Q.

A

ourt. Q. Was the Defendant standing at the bapr? A. He

“

wvas at the bar, e had a drink that time.

When you started to go out did he follow you?

sir, he followed me out to the door.

He did not remain standing 2t the bar? A. No.

avis. Q. I ask ycu how Far he had to walk from the bar

-

where this Defendant was standing drivking in order 1o get

to the door, now do vou unde rstand my qQuestion?

Yes sir.

You remember where the Defendant was standing when you
teated him and vhen he drank? A. Yes sir.

You were standing near the same place? A. No,
further, he was at the middle of the bar.

Yol were all at the bar, were you not? A. Yes siyp.

How far was it from the Place where the Defendant was

standing to this side door where Yyou were struck?
About six feet to the side door, it may be more, I can't
i

swear tc the certain length it was.

About how far can you measure it here now? A. About

thid lergth, just aboeu+t that from me ove . (Iliustrating

Between the bar and the door? A. Yes sir, to the door.

,‘ Was ithe door behind yowr as you sthoed Tacing the bar?

Yes sir, it was not rirht behind me, I was f.arther up than
the door.
Was this side door orpesite the bar? A- Yes sir.

The entrance to this saloon is on what sitreet.

27th Street.
I mean the fron+t entrance® A. The Iront entrance is on
Seventh Avenue.

The sicde entrance is on 27th S+4.9




As you enter on which hand is the bar, right or left hang,
doss it run along the side A. It was in on the side
door, the Lront docr was not open ~--- the same as that
was the side docr and here was the bar . (Illustrating.)
You knovw vhere the front door was? A. Yes sir.

Or which hand would the bar be as you enter, right or lcft.

It would be to the left.

Court- Q. Which corner was i+? A. The uptown side, the

east side ¢l the Avenue, I never was in it only the once-

| Do you Fnow wvhe thopr it is the uptown or dcwn town, side?

I am no% sucre whiche.

If you Fnow, was the main entranée, the front dooyry in the
middle? and a window on each side? A. Yes sir.

Was the bar towards the street or toward the wall?

The bar was toward the sireet.
Davis. Q. Was the bar on the same side that the side
trance was? A. Yes sir, the bar was Tacing the

entrance.

Do you know what the east side is and the west side of the

avermie is? A. Yes sir.

Court- Qs VWas the saloon on the side toward 8th, 7th or 8th

|
'JAvenue, the side toward the Horth or Fast River?

1

I forget the curner that it was on nOw.
Davis. Q. The entrance is on Seveuth Avenue, is it ¢

Yes sire.

said the bar was nearly opjrosite the side en trance?

Yes sir.

Go back to the distanee hetwoen the bar and the side decr,

|

{

i

!

i

!

And as you enter this side door orn 27+4h Street 1 think you i
H

i

eight_or ten feet.

J

what was that distancev A« It might be about six, I
l




By thell Court- Q. In vyoar eye measure it,

as far as that railing?

A+ || Yes sir, about From this railing to that.

Soreman Fight feet I should think.

By

Mr. Davis. . When you went to leave thesec rarties after some-
body had put his hard in vour rocket, you went toward that
side of the dcor opposite tlie bary A. Yes sir.

How many steps had vou itaken before yoa were struack?

I could not tell how many.

N3P

Can you give ws an idea? A- No sir, 1 cannot ¢ive
an idea how many steps 1 took.

You do not know whether you took f{ive or forty?

I did not take forty.

About how many? A. I might have ten, six or seven, I

could not say how many.

Did you walk or run? A. I walked two steps and then I
ran ou% and when I ran to the door there was two men.

Did you see these two men £o to the door or were they thore
when you first laid eyes on them? A. They vwrere there
when I got to the door, they were there before ms.

You did not see them £0 to the Qoor? A. No sir..

As you walked across to them did You hear any noise behind

you from thos8 others? A. Yes sir.
A noise of what? A. When I looked over my shoulder
seen them followirng me 4o the door.

Was this Defendant one of those? A. Yes sir.

Then: you were struck you say: A. Yes sir.

By one of the men standing at the door® A Yes gir.
Do you ¥now whether you were kicked by one of those men at

the docr or by the one who was behind you? A. One of the

men at the door.




Wh=t became of you when you were s+truck? A. I was

“tknocked down.

You were knocked down on the floor inside of the saloon?

Yes sir, in at the hall door, a little area like.

Did you get out of the door? A. No, I did not et out,
I had %o go back into the saloon, I could not get ocut on

the side dcoor.

jourt. Q. Is there a box surroundimg $hat side door?

Dike that box in the corner? A. Yes sir, and another
door here that was not in the store.
Davis. Q. You had to go throurh twoe doors to get in®%

Yes sir.

When you were struck did you get between the outer dour

and the inner door? A. Yes sir.

And those two men, where were they standing? A. Standing
at the outer door.
Was it light or darky A. Kind of light.
Was tha+t what they call a family entrance, do vyou know what
that is*® A. Yes sir.

Wnen you fell were you inside of the saloon?

Yes gir.
When ycu were struek did vou go back into the saloon?
Yes sir.
And it was in the saloon where you fell? A. Yes sir-'_
When you got in the saloon where was this Deferndant?
He was standing right beside me when I get up.
He was standing right beside you when you got up?
Yes sir.

What did he do? A.  lle done nothing there that I seen.




By the
Qs
Qe
Qe

Court. Q. Nothing at that time? A. NO.

Davis. Q. McKenna, go on slowly and tell us what took plac

from that? Ae When I was = —--

Court. Q. You went back to the bar? A. Yes sir.

Did ycu stand there? ‘A. Yes sir.

Did vou get more drink? A. Mo sir.
What next happened? A. I sto0od at the bar witil I coulg
set a show for going out. They wanted to weigh me.

Who wanted to weigh you? A. One bet a dollar to see ~-

Who bet, do you recollicct? A I think it was Lynch and

Morris,

Lynch offered to bet Moreis? A. Yes sir.

Whet did, he say®? S« He b=t a dollar that I was heavier

than he vras.

What rrocess did they o through to get at your weight,
any? A« They wanted to £et me on their hack.

Did they do anything te that end© A« Yes sir, they

wanted 4o pull me on it.

Did they get hold ol you?

Who got hold or you¥? A« Lynch, arcund the body.

Get Nnold of this man as ILynch got hold of You, he was be-

hind you? A. He catched me this way. (Illustrating-)

| First they wanted to take me this way by the +two hands,
they wvented to pull'me that way on their hack, I would not
let them, they Pulled my hands up over the shoulder.

Who pulled &ou up ? A+ That man the Defendant had holca
of my hand, he was rulling my handg up;

Show us how. the Nefendant put his hands on you?

He catehed it this way to &8t up on the other mar's shoul-

derxr.




What did you say? A+ I would not let them.

Did youw have your money at this time¢ A. Yes sir, it

was at the dcor the money was taken from me wken I made

the secomd time to get up.
Did you have your money at this timev A. Yes sir.

Did they try 1o weigh you afier they had kicked you and

alter they had pucched you at the door? A. Refore that

they wanted to weighs me, I had my money the whole time
o {r I

at that time I wo.ld not let them, it was at the door when
I made to get up the last time that my money was taken
from me.

Do you remember when yeu vere struck between the eves at
the door? A. Yes sir.

I wan* 40 know whe ther they had tried to weigh yvou before

that or aftery A. Before that thevy went to weigh me.

No sir.

How long were you in that salocn altogethere

|

i

i

an nour. !
i

i
!
]

Q- I How many times were you vweished? A. They never asked

! te weigh me only the once and I would not let thom.
By Mr. bavis- Q< You said you went in there with this man Ware,
do you remember that? A. Yes sir.

And he borrowed some money of you? A. Yes sir.

And he introduced you +o all these people in the saloen?

Yos sir.

They a2ll came up to the bar? Yes sir.

Was that done as scown as you got in? A. Yes sir.

’
!
ourt. Q. wers they welghing you all the eveningy g
!
]
|

1
i
i
|
|
1
I
|
f
]
!
Are you listening to me? A. Yes sir. ;
|




Was anything else done be fore that?

NWothings at alle A. Nothing.

<)

You are all at the bar dr inking and you paid For the drink?

Yes sgir.

Was anything else done before you raid for the drivks?

No sir.

After you paid Ffor the drinks wiat was the very next thing
done? A- I turned to go out.

You turrned +to go outy A. Yes sir.
£

Up to that time had anything else cccurred except what you |

have told us? A. No sir. ;

|
Any weighing, nothing said about we ighing? A. No sir.
You turmed to go out of whieh door¢ A. Oy the side doomn
What was the very nexi thing that took place?

Whenever I turned for +to &o out I caught 2 man with his

hand in my fob pPocket where the watch ang rmoney was.

|
|
{
|
|
|
t
;

That was the wvery next thing? A« That was the very

nexst thing.
You arce sure? Ae. Yes sir.
Was any rmoney taken!Urom yeu then, was anything said at that

time that the man Put his hand in your pocket? A.Yes sir.

What was said? A. That was the time that the weighing }
|
|

started.
i
i

Right there was the time the we ighing started wihien this maﬁﬂ
hand was in your pocket? A. Yes sir. f
What did you do with his Ae I pushed him back. j
What did you say? A. My God are you going to rob me, 1 !
said. /
Then when you said that after pushing them back did any-

body say anything to you? A. Yes sir, that is the time




|
|
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they bet.
&id they say, tell us what was said, just imapine
the scene oceurring again. A. They bet thén that —--
Who beté A. Lynch that Morris was heavier than me.

YWho made the bet? A. Onec of them pulled cut a dollar

and said =—-—---

No you know who it was? A. I think it was Lynch.

He pulled out a dollar did he? A. Yes sire.

What dicd he say? A. I will bet a dollar that this
man is heavier than the octher man and ithe other said, I
will bet you he aint.

Do you know who that other ﬁan wvas? A« I think it was
Morris.

Where was this man, the Defendan+, when that bet was going
on? A. He was standing right beside me.

Standing right beside you? A. Yes sgir.

Was he doing anythingy A« Mo, not at that time.

Did ne say aidything at that time? A. No.

Did you say anything whernn they offered to make the bet?
No sir.

Did you do anything? Ao No sir, I never s1.oke.

Did yeu stand still or ran? A. I stoud with my elbow
resting on the bar wat ching them.

Was the bet made or dia anybody take the bet?

No sir.

What was the very next thing that was done?

They went t0 get me on their back and 110t me up .

Tell us how? A. That man, the defendanrt, had hold

my hande.

Was he the first ore that tock hold of you?




Who was the First ogpe who took hold of you? A. Lynch.
What did he do te you, the firsi one that took hold of you.
The way I was showing you with that man.

Did he take you around your waist as if tc¢ get you on his
hip? A. Yes sir.s

Well, did he get you there? A. NO.

Did anyrbody help him? A. Yes sir.

Who helped him to try to get you up? A Morris did.

What did he do to youv A They did not get doing noth-

ing tc me after 1 pashed them back from me.
Q They did not,1ilt you? A. NO.

By the Court. Q. It was only an attempty A.Yes sir.

By Mr. |Davis. Q. You pushed@ them away? A. Yes sir.

This fellow who had hold of you arcund the waist you puslted

back? A.

WYhat did you say to him, anything? A« I told them they
would not weigh me or do nothing with me.

What was the very mex+t that was donev A. They lifted my
hand up *o get me on their shoulder.

Yho got hold of you? A. This man got hold of me to

1lift me on the other man's shoulder.

Yhich hand did he get hold of? A. The right hand.

Did he 4ouch your left hand? A. No.

What did he do with yowr right hande Ao He lifted it
on the other man's shouldees.

Court. Q. Lynch? A. Yes sgir.

Davis. Q. Wha+ else was do:e right there, tell us the very

]

nexi thing? A. I got away Ffrom them again.

You pulled away Trom them, aid you? A. Yes sir, and

stood at the bar.




You went back to the bar? A. Yes siy, a.d stood there.
Then what was the very next thing that was done?

The ne;ﬁ thing whencver I got a show I tock my money out of
my pocket, out of this pocket and I held it this way in my
hand in vy coat pocket.

Wnile you s8tood at the bhar? A. Yes sir.

Court. @. You took your money from your fob pocket and held

it ir your hand in the coat pocket? A. Yes sir. »

Davis. Q. Did anybody see vou? A« I 4id net see anybody

lock at me, I had the money and watch ardchain all in my
harnd holding it in my hand.

After you done that what was ihn» very next thing that wasg

done? A. They wanted me to go out, I said I would not

go ocut until the Ffront door was opened.

What did they say to vou? A+ They told me to g£o nome now,

What did they say, tell us what they said? A+ This VWare

said, "come, let s go home now. I said, "I will not go
home wuntil tha+t front dcor is oren when I caunot get out
on the side door, I am not foing out to endanger my life.
Who spolke next? A. Ware said, "you mecd not be afraid

Por nothing will happPen vou while I am here. So I stocad

there, I pushed him avay, I told him I wanted %¢ have
nothing to do with him, I said, "get away [from about me."
S0 they all scattered from me then, they all went from me
that time and whenever I seen that I could get to the door
I made & long spring for the door.

You made a snring, vou ran for the door* A. Yes sir,
the same mern that was at the door the first time was at it

that time.

Court. Q. You found the same +twoe men at the door that were




there before? A. Yessgir.
Mr. Davis. Q. Then what did they do to youv A. The wateh and
money was taken from me.
Qs Tell us how it was done?
the Court. Q; You made a spring for the door and there were two
men behind you? A. Yes sir.
Qe Some behind and some in Iront gathered around you?
What happened to you? A. I was hit then.
Struck where, you were str.ck again in the face or
Toreheaad? Ae. Yes sir.,
By whom if you know? A. O0'Brien.
Struck by O0'Brien? A. Yes sipv, this i3 the first
striking.
We want you to get down to the second, you jumped Tfrom the
bar to get up the second time? A. Yes sir, that was the
time I was struck in the Tace and kicked right here above
the eyes.
Qs You were only struck once? 4. Yes, they wore back threo
or four times, it is the one styriking. ‘
3y HMr. Davis. Q- If I understana it this is the £irst time that
you went to the door, this is the Tirst time that you went
to the door, is it? e gy this is the last time I went
to the door that I was struck and the money taken; I was
struck at the door and knocked down.
By the Court. Q. low many times were you struck altogether?
A I was struck once in the face and kicked in the belly
and kicked in the thigh.
That is the time you were knocked down? A. Yes sip,

that is the time the money was toeken.

You got up afier that, didn't you?
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Q. You went back to the bar? A

e, i NP

No sir, I went out then;

the door wasmopen for me and then I went out.

By Mr. Davis.Q. Do you remember that You said these people all
separated from you after they tried to weigh you? A. Yes.
You took your.money out of your pocket and put it in here

and held fast to it with your wateh? A. Yes sir.

They separated around the salceon, do you rcmember that?

A. Yes sir.
That was aTter they tricd to weilgh you? A. Yes sir.

Then you made a spring for the door when yowu saw you had a

chance? A. Yes sir.

I want to know whether that was the Tirst time you tried to

get up or the second time? That is the sécond time.

That was the second +time? A. Yes sir,

Tow the Tirst time the same two men wvere there? A. Yes sy

Now this second time that you went to the door you wee

struck? A. Yes sir.

You were not struck the irst time you went to the door?

A. o sir.

But you were preventied from going out by those two men?

A. Yes siwv,

I am speaking of the First time, when you say ithe First

time that you could not &0 out you came back to the bapr?

Ae Yes sir.

It was after that this weighing took place? A. Yes sir.

But you had not yet been stiuck by anybody? A. 110.

It was only when you went to the door the second time to

speing out that you were struck, is that right? A.Yes sip.

Twice you went to the doonr? A. Yes sir.




The second time you went therce you were struck? A. Yes sis

You went to the same door both timesvy A. Yes sirv.

Now let us go further, when you got to the door the second
time and was struck did you have hold of your money and
your watch? A. Yes sir, I had at that time, I took my
hand out of my pocket and I hit one of them a box, and the
wateh and money was in my pocket then.
You hit back in other words? A. Yes sir.
Whom did you hit? Ae T hit O'Brien.
And wnere was this man then, the Defendant?

standing right behind me at the door too.
Were they all zround you? A. Yes sir, they were all
around me at the door.
And then you struck out, did you? A Yes sir,

liow many of them did you hit¢? A. I hit one.

Then afier you did that what was done while you were there
in the midst of them? Ae As soon as I hit him I got my
hand in my pocket again.
What did you put your hand in your pocket again Ffore

A. To mind my wateh and money, my watch and money was gone
just at that time.
Your watch and money were gone: A. Yes sir.

Did ygu know who took it: A. ¥o sir..
Did you Teel anybody touch your pocket? A- NO.

It was gone? A. Yes sir, no one could ———--

By the Court. Q. Never mind that, tell us what nappened, you do
not know which one took it? A. o siwv.
By Myr. Davis. Q. Then what did you do when you found your money

was gone? A. The door was opened Tor me.

By the Court. Q. Which door? A. The side door.

21




By Mr. Davis. Q. What did you do¥ A. I got out.
Where did you go? Ao To the 20th 8¢. suvation house.
And made your complaint therev £. Yes siv.
After you méae your complaint what did you do%
A. Officer ialoney eame back with me and arrested four

of them at the bar and the rest of themescaped.

Was this man one of the four arrested? A. No sir,

at that time.
Q. He was not there at that time? A. No gir.
By the Court. Q. “ave you told al 1L that this man did that
ollect? A. Yes sinp.
Did he strike you at any time? A. NOo siy.
Did he say anything to you at any time? Sie NO.
Or you to him? A. lio sir, I never spoke to him.
Didn't he have hold of you except the time he liftead you
up? A. No sir.
Did he take hold of you at any other time? Ae Iio sivy,
he was always behind me.
By Mr. Davis. Q. When digd you next sce this man after that, the
Defendant? A« In JeiTerson Market sitting in the seat
He was sitting in a seat tle n¢ A.Yes sir,
And what were you doing there? A. I went up %o see if
I coula identify him.
court. Q. To see if you could identify whom?
man here. (Pointing to the defendant. )

Qe You went ithere for the purpose of identifying him, you
heard he was tle re? A. Yes sir, I was told that there
was a man arrested and I went up at once.

By Mr. Davis. Q. When was it you went there to see this man, the

defendant? A. I forget the day of the month, it was in
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September about the 24th or 25th of September I seen him.
About how long afiter the night in which you were in the sa-
loon? A. About a month after.
You weni to the jpolice Court, did your A. Yes sir.

Q- Did you identifly this mant A. Yes sir, I identified
him in Jefferson iiarket.

3. Where was he? A. ile was sitiing in a seat among a lot
the same as if he was sitting hore in them seats.

A lot of people around him v A. Yes sirv.

About how many? A. There was about four or five sitting

in the scats and i was sitting beside another man in the
seat.
By the Court. Q. There was not asmany there as here?
only half as many.
By lir. Davis.Q. There was the scats there and he was tlere (illus
rating), did you piek him outw A. Yes giv.
Tell us what you did? A. I was put into a back room =nd
a man was put into a seat and whenevcer e was in the seat I
was called out to see if I could pick him out; I opened
the gate and I walked out and I looked on both sides of ne
and I seen:him and I told the officer that that was one of
the men.
You then saw him for the first time after the night you were
in the saloon while he was sitting in ithe seat? A.Yes sirp.
You are sure ithis is the man who was there? A. Yes sirp,
I am certain of it.
CRO3S EXAMIIIED by Counsel.
QL What is your business, Lickenna? A. Watchman.
Q Where do you reside? 3 ; 835 Third Avenue.

Q- For whom do you work? Jor the liational Ice Company.
E Y




How long have you worked for them? A. About three years

or aver.

Where is this saloon in question? A. 27th St. and
Seventh Avenue.

What corner is itv A. The southwest, I guess.

On the last trial you said it was the northeast corner,

didn't you? Ao I said I forgot the corner it was on

that I was in, I was in it only once and I suppose I never

will again eitheyr.
The Court: I do not believe yru will for it is closed rniov.
Witness: It is a good job.
By Counsel. Q. What time aid you leave your residence on Sunday
morning? A. About nine o'elock.
You worked all the nighi before? A. Yes sir.
As a night watchman? A Yes sir.
Where did you fiwvst go to after leaving your home?
A. T went over to tle west side to £0 on an oxcursion.
What excursion was it¢ A. It was the County lLionahan.
And you went out on. that excursion, did you? A. Yes sir.
At nine o'cloeck in the morning? A. I didn't go out at
nine, it was eleven or atter before it started.
And where did that excursion g0 to? Ae Bay Cliff.
And you remained there all day. is that righte A. ¥Yes
sir, we did not land, it was too late. we never 501 a
landing, we were on the boat the whole day.
What time did you veturn to +the city? Ae T could not
rightly say, it might be about twelve o'clock.
Twelve o'cliock at night? A. Yes sir, eleven, I cculd
not rightly say, I could not keep no account of the time.

Whatibdid yeu do alter landi ng¢ A« I left a couple of




friends of mine at géme.

You went from the excursion with a couple of friends of
yours? A. Yes sir.

Where did you go to¥ A. I went to 43rd Street with
thems.

And what avenue? A. Right oil Saventh Avernue.

How long did yeu remain there with them? L. Well, I

could not rightly say.

Hal# an hour? A. Well, I may.
About what time did you leave? I could not tell,
I «id not look 2t tiie time.
One o'clock? A. It might be, I have noit looked at the
time, I was keeping no account of the time.
Where did you ge¢ next affter that? A. I went over to
the west side to a i'riend of mine there, I was leaving
friends of mine home ithat was on the cxeursion.
You went from there west? A. Yce sir, to 28th St.
28th Street and what avenue; A. Zetween I0th and 1llth.
When did you aryive there? A. I did not look at he
time.
Q. You could not tell exactly? A. HO.
Q. Was it later th&g one o'eloek? A. T could not tell you.
By the Court. Q. Give as near an cstimate as you can? A. Yes
sir, it was.
3y Counsel. . Did you drink anything while on this barge?
A. Yes sir.
What was 1it? A. Barsapsrillz, ginger ale or soda water
that is all.
And when you went home with these friends 10 43rd Street

and remained there did you have anything to drink there?
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A. Mo sir.
By the Court. {. Had you dyrank at all?
Q. Had not drank ligquor of any kind?
Ey Counsel. Q. You do not drink anything? Yes sir, I drink
a glass of sherry once in a while in the morning.

Did you drink any sherry this day¥ A. Mo sir.

You made a vigit to friends on 28th { : A.
They were not on an cxcusion? Ao

You were just making a socizl call¥ Yes sir, I went

off to go to sec them.
About one o'clock in the morning? A. Yes, about that.
Did you wakc them upv A. Yes.

How long did you remain there ¢ A. I might have re-

amined about half an hour or an hour, I could noi rightly

say.
By the Court. Q. Tuey were in bed when you got therey A. Yes sir,

@ Vere they relatives of yours®: AL Yes, I boarded with

themn.

Counsel.?. That was the relationship¥ A. Yes, the rela-~

tionship, I boarded with them for over a ycar.

the Court.{. Any blcod connection? A. O no sir, no

connection.

By Counsel. @. How long did you remain there did you say¥?
A I could not tell you, I did nct look at the time.
Hall an hour? A. Yes sir, it might be more.

Nothing to drink therc? A. Yo sir.

ot n hhinm,not even sarsaparilla¥ A. I tell you I
deank nothing ot all in there.
Whnt did you do on leaving there? A

The mashband cam

up boe tha avenue with me, we stood talking a2 while on the




avenue, then he went home and I startedfor home too.

By the Court. (. Where did he leave you? A. At 9th Avenue and

28th Street.

Qs You then went on alone? A. Yes sir.

By Counsel. Q. Where did you go aflter leaving them, I mean what di-
rection? A. I wenit on over to ithe east side.

" How far did you go east from 28th Strcecet and Minth Avenue?
A. Over to Iighth Avenue.

Then nexit whai did you do? A. I turned down 8th Avenuco

to 27th Street.

Dovn to0 27th Sireet, is that right? A. Yes sir.

When you lcft your Ifriend between I0th and IIth Avenues,

wheTe did you intend to go? A. I intended to go trome.

What way were you going to take to go home? A. I was go-

ing to walk over and then I changed my mind that I would =Zo
& : )

and take the 23rd Street car across.

Court. Q. If you werc going to tle =2drd Strcet cars why

did not you continue pn 23rd SHireet down to 8th Avenue in-—

stead of turning 28th Strect? A It was at this time

at that comer that Ware spoke to me.

You say you did not know him? A. No sir.

. e reen

Bt you stoppcd before that, you were in conversation with

this coloredwoman.? A. She asked me to treat he re

Q. It was around the cormner she spoke to you? A. Yes sir.

Counsel. Q. Did not you meet Ware on 2¥ih Strcet between 7th

and 8th Avenues? A. Yes sir, right at the covner tie r.

Can't you tell us what time itwas when you reached 27th St

and 7th Avenue®? A. About four c¢'clock, it might be a

few mimites before it or a Few mimites atter, I can't judge

Before you ehtercd the saloon you had mei the colored woman.)
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A. Yes.

Then you met Ware? A. Yes sir, Ware

IS

came up just at

the time.

You had some conversation with Ware? A. Yes sir.
And then you went intoithe liquor saloon? A. Yes.
Prior to that

you had lecaned Ware twenty or twenty-five

centsy A Twenty-five cents, I had not twenty cents

on me and I gave him twenity-~Tive.

What was the Tfirst thing that occurrcd when you F50t into
this saloon? Ae T woent right 1o the bar, und had a

drink.

And who cls8e¥ A. Then eight srink rishi

time.

you drank vhaty Ao Sarsaparilla.

mich did the drinks amount to09 Forty-five cents.
Ware pay for the drinks? he kept the

quarter and I had to pay.

You p=aid for ithe drinks?

"Who served the drinks¢y . A coloreu fFellosr.

By the Court.
Q. Have you seen that colored man since- A. Yes siv.
Diad you see him in Court on the last wrial? A. Yes sir.
Do you know his namev A. I am nov sure but I think his

name was Jackson.

Counsel. . IPrank Jackson --

uow long were yoi in the saloon
be fore the colored woman came in? A. About a couple of
minmutes or ten, I could not say what length it was.

It was Db=lore the ecolored woman came in thatyou had your
drinks? A. Yes sir.

By the Court. Q.

Is that the same colored wanan that you met on ties

street? A. Yes sir, maybe about five minutes.




Q. Did she have a drd nk with you there too? o sir.
By Cofgasel. Q. Iow long did you stand at the bar? j I might
stand about five minutes or ten.
By the dourt.q. Altogether how long were you standing at the bary
A. About half an hour or so.
By Counsel.Q. After all the other men had drinks what next oc-—
curred? A. They all had the drinks there at that time.
After they were all through drinking, what next cccurrcd?
A. I turned off to go oui.
You turned to go out? A. Yes, I turned from the
You did not run? A. ¥o sir.
You turned from the bar to wallk
o as you turncd what ocecurred?
with his hand in my pocket.
By the Court. Q. That was Lynch? A. Yes sir.
By Counsel. Q- Taking your watch and money Irom you? Ao Yes sivp,
the money.
The Counsel: OifTicer, will you allow Lynch and orris both to come
into Court®
The two men came into court.
By Counsel. . MNow which one of those men was it that tried to put
his hand in your pockets A. That man. (Peinting.)
Q. Thsi man lere? Ae Yes sir, that is Lynch.
By the Court. Q. That is the man you say put his hand in your
pocket? A. Yes sir.
By Counsel. Q. Are you sure this was the man? A. Lyneh was the
man.
Q. What did the other man do? catching me be-—

hipd the back.

The Court: What is his name?

29




Counsel: Morris.
In what way was it he caught you behind the bhack?
vray s (Showing. )
By the Court. Q. At what period of time, aftcy you fTound the man
witih his hand in your pocket? A. Yes sir.
By Mr. Davis. Q- Do you know what his name is? A. Lioryis.
By Counsel. Q. Was it just after you left your glass down that
you caught Morris with his hand in your watceh pocket?

A. Yes sir, just right at that time, I just turned aroand
1ike +%his and as soon as I turncd around I caught the man's
hand in my pocket.

And you say nov that Lynch at the same time had hold of
yvou by the back? A. No, I said Lynch had his hand in

rny pocket.

The Court: Morris took him by the back immediately aflterwards.

Witness: That is what I said.

By the Court. &+ I have it on my minates Liorris isthe man that
caught me by the back right after that, 1is that righ+t?

A. Yes sire.

By Counsel.. Right after that iiorris took you by tie baclk, is
that right. A. Yes sir.

By the Court.Q. Vhat do you mean, by your coat ¢collar, did he
secize youry coat or vhate Ae. Yes six;my coat for to
1ift me up.

Q- That is when you were down, was it? A. Yes sir.

By Counsel. Q. ow what did Lynch do? A. I pushed him back fran
me.

Qe I do not want to know what you did, I want to know what
Lynch did when you say that he caught you a nd tricd to

get your watch and money out of your Lob pocket; tell me
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exactly what‘did he do? A. I Tound him with his hard
in my pocket catching my watich and money when I turned
around and seen him.

By the Court. Q. Did he get his nands on it?9 A. e did not get
it, he had his hands on it, he never pulled it out of my
pocketb.

By Counsel. Q. If on the prior trial you said that nobody was in
contact with you at that time except Lynch, were you mis=
taken? A. Nosir, I said that was the +time they went to
left me right aftcr —-- that was all the man was in contact
with me a2t that time, Lynch, at the time that the hand was
in my pocket.

It was sometime aftcr that Horris took hold of you?

A. Yes, it might be a kinute or two afters.

I asked you on the Prior trial: "Q. Was anybody else tl re
at that time? A. Ware was on this side of me at the bar.®
Now come down toihe betiing of tne dollar, who offered to
bet you 2 dollar? A. Lynch.
That was aflfter thec&fTfort to extract money from your pocket
A. Yes sir.
What did Morris say to that¢ A. He said I was not as
heavy as him and the othcr man said I was.
Then they made the effort to 1ift you up¢? As Yes sir.
Who caught hold ol you? A. Lynch.

After rec=sss.

Counsel. (. You are speaking now of when they were trying to

weigh you, is that right? A. Yes gir.

Q. Is your memory better to~day than on the last trial a
month ago? A. I do not know, it is near like the same

I guess.




If you said on the other trial that the three men who were
weighing you and holding you were behind you and you aiad
not see them, which is correct, what you testified to +o-
day or at the former trial? A. Isay that Morris was
behind me and Lynch was lifting me.
I will read you Trow the stenographer's minutes: "d. You
turned to go out? A. Yes sir., juse as I left down my
glass I turned to go out, as I turned I caught the fellow
with his hand in my watch pocket taking tle watch from me.
By tiie Court. Q. Thati was Lynch? A. Yes sir. . What
pocket do you mean when you say yourwatch pocket? A. The
Pants pocket here. {(Indicating the fob on the right side.)
By Mr. McecLaughlin. Q. i(le did not take it? A.No sir, he
did not get it at that time but he had it in his fingers
I found him pulling it up. Q+«Was anybody else tlcre at
the time? A.Ware ﬁas on this side of me. Q. At thie bar?
A.Yes sir .When you shifted your money Liyneh was the
only one who was sctually in éontact with you at that time?
A. Yes sir, that was allat that time. Q. Then What oc=-
curred next? A.I said, are you going to rob me and Ware
said,lno, noone will meddle with you while I am here.”
Q. Then you went out? A. Then they began to bet who was
tire heaviest and wanted to get me out amons them. .o,
Vdon't giveus any conclusion, I wanti to know what was done
or said¢ A.Then they put their hands in their pockets
and pulled out a dollar and he said, I will bet you that
dollar. Q.Well, who took out his dollar? A.T could noi

tell which one did that, they were all standing around at

me at the time. By tne Court. Q. One pulled oui a dol-

lar and offered to do wvhat? A.To bet that dollaw with

‘the other man that I was heavier than him.




By Lir. HcLaughlin. Q. Then what? A.Then they came for
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to cateh me and 1ift me. Q.Then they caught hold of you
and lifted you up? A. Yes sir, for 1o get me on their
back. Q.Well, they caught hold ol you and l1lifted you up?
A.Yes sirp. By the wvourt. Q.Tell who caught hold of

you? ALI could not say which, they all did. J.How many

s e

of them? A.Well, thwcre was three at me at that time hold-

ing me. Q.-Well, what did they do? A.Well, they held me
urp and I pushed them, they held me up to weigh me.

Q.Did they catch you by the waisi or by the foet? a.lo
sir, by the shoulders and waist. Q. They &ifted you up,
is that it¢ A.Yes sir. g.You cannoi say who it was
that was 1lifting you at the time? A.Mo sir, I cannot say
that for they were bepind my hack. Q.¥Well, you are per-~
fectly satisfied that they were 1lifting you? A.ljo sirp,
because I pushced them away and I said I did not want to
have anything to do with theme® I ask you if tle

testimony I have read to you is correct or the testimony
whichh you have given to-day, which is correct?
. A« I do not think there is much change in eitler of them.

3y the Court.
Q. You think they are both correct do you? A. Yes siv.
By Counsel.d. You think they are botlh correct? A. Yes sir, I do

not think wthere is muech differefee in the two.

What occurred after they weighsd you? A.

They let me go
when I pushed them away.

You left them did you? A. Yes sir.

You pushed them away?
What did you do next? at the bar.

You went back to the bar? C sir.

That was the end of the bar near the ice-bhox?

end of the bar next to the front door.




By the Court. Q. That would be the end of the bar neatest or fur~

thest from the side door? A. Yes sir, furthest, nearer

the 7th Avenue door.

By Counsel. Q. You went to the end of the bar furthest from the
side door? A. It is tle side next 7th Avenue.

Then you went towards the side door after that 4aid you?

A. Yes sir.

Did you get out of the first door leading into the saloon,
I mean the little swinging door, did you get through that?

A. Yes sir.

You got between that partition and the outer door, is that
right? A. Yes sivr.

While in that partition thefz you were struck? A. I
pulled the door that time for to get back to open the out-
side door where it was locked.

You tried to open the outer door? A . Yes sip.
Goinmrout into tle family entrance? A. Going out on t o
the street.

And who met you tie re? A, T Parget his name.

Ford and 0'Brien, is that righte A. Yes sir.

Where was the Defendant at that timev e Hle was stand-
ing benind me just at that little door.

By the Court. Q. Inside the dooyr, at the door?

By Counsel. Q. Inside the saloon? Ae Yes sir,

By the Court. Q. In the saloon in this liittle room? A. In this
little room he was turning when I turned to run back, I
pulled the door to get out when I seen them all out the re,
the two men at the door.

the Court. Q. When you turned to run baek was he standing in th:

doorway®? A. No, he came right from the bar.




Q. Ahead of you? A. Behind me.
By Bouflselt. Q. But he was standing in the saloon, was he not;
wgch you passed in the saloon? A. lle was standing in
the door next the outer door, inside of that little door I
said.
By ‘the Court. Q. In the saloon proper or in that little room?

As In that little room.

Q. Ile had passed over tie threshold into that little apart-

ment ? A. Yes sir.
By Counsel. Q. When you turned you saw him, was that it%? L. Yes.
Q. You did not sce hnim do anything active in the matter?
A. MNo sir.
Qe He did not have hiold of you? _ A. NO.
By the Court. . You say tledefendant did not hodg. you unless at
the time when I put his hands on you to weigh you?
A. Yes sir
By Counsel. Q. During the whole time from beginning to enas
A. ot that I seen him until that one +ime.
By the Court. Q. One of the defendants came with this deflendant
and struck you, is that right? A. Yes sir.
By Counsel. Q. Thar was the time they lified you to waigh youy
Just at the time you left the bare? A. Yes sir, at the
re
You Imd your moncy and piroporty when you left to go through
this swinging door? A. Yes sir.
And you got out into the bPassgaeway towards ithe doory when
you met O'Brien and lord? A. Yes sivp, standing at the
outer dooy, and these others were all behind me standing
all around me in that little room in the passage at that

outer door.




By the Court. Q. All gathered around you while you were in that

little rcom? A. Yes sir.
3y Counsel. Q. Then you went out of the side door, did you?

A. That was the time I was hit, that I got the punch in

the face.
‘You were struck, did you fall toward the inside or into

that partition place9 A. Into the partition place.
You fell in there? A. Yes sir.
You did not fall in the stiorev .. No.
You fell inside the little pariition® A. Yes sir.
The Court: Is it an apartmenty

Counsel: It is like a hallway leading from the outer door.

iy the Court. QL Was it in that hallw=zy, call it that that you

fell downy A, Yes sir.

Or was it in the saloon ituelfy Ae In that I fell by

the.stofe.
What do you mean by that? A. When I fell I fell in like,
Across the threshold into the store? 4. Yes sir.

By Counsel. (. And I understaod you to say when you fell into the
store the lefendant was behind you, I mean you sald that on
your direci examination. A. I said he was standing be-
hind me when I went to rull the door when these two men
was behind me at that doop.

At the inner door? A. Yes siv.

It was just before you went ous that you lost your money?
A. Yes siv.

When you put your money in your pocket and drew off to hit

O'Brien and these other men® A. Yes sir, that I lost

the money.

the Court. Q. You had the money in your hang?%




"You had the money in your hand Ffrom the time you removed
it from the fob pocket unitil the time you let go of it to
strike 0'Brien, is that rightv A. That is right.

You held on to it with your hand in your co=at pocket until
thiat time? A. Yes sir, until that time.

Then you let go of i+t? A. Then I let go of it.

When you put your hand to the pocket again your money was
gone? A. Yes siry,

You do not know who +took it® A. T do not know.

You know you lost it at that time? A- Yes sir.

Where was the defendant =t the time you discovered the

loss of the money? standing behiind me about a

Poot or two feet.

By Counsel. Q. But he did not rut his hand on yeu that you know of*,

as far as you know? A. No, I did not see him.
Q- Then where did you go after you got out in the street?
A. I went to the 20th Street station house.
Qe Immediately, right away? A. Yes Gir.
By the Court. Q. Did you know where it was before you got there,
the location? A. No, I asked a man where it was.
Q- On the street? A. Yes, your Honor.
By Counsel. Q. And there you obtained an officer? A. Yes sir.
And you came back to the saloon? A. Yes sir.
And there caused tie arrest of Lynch, ilorris, C'Connpr and
Ware, is that right A. Yes sir, that is right.
And you identified each onc of them? A. Yes sir,
As being parties who were concerned in the robbery of you,
is that right? 4. Yes sir, that is right.

Vas there anybody else in the saloon when you returned with

the officer? A. Yes sir.




A. There was more persons went out just as we went

You don't know how many? A. Mo, I don't know how many,
I seen two of them going out.
Who were they? A. I seen O'Brien and Ford, they went out
just as we went in.
How about Coogan? A. Coogan was out.
Then the four defendants were taken to the station house?
A. Yes siv.
Where did you go to next: Ao I went to Jefferson niarket:
Court. Q. Where did you go after you left the saloon, Iome?
A. ¥o sir.

Q. Where did you go? A« Right to Jefferson iiarket.

By Cdunsel. Q. You went right to Jefferson liarket, did you?

A. Yes sir.

And appeared against Ware, Connor and those four?

A. Yes sir.

When did you next go to thie 168th precinct? A. I wenti a
day or two after.
What took you there, how did you come to go there?

A. I got word that there was two more prisoners arrested.
How was that communicated to you? . I got a note saying
that there was two prigoners arrested.

And when you went to the station house did you lmve any
conversation with My. Carey?

No conversation of any kind?

When you entered the station house who did you Ffirst con-
verse with? A. The sergeant at the desk or the men at

the desk.

And then you were placed in a room back of the sergeant's

room, is that right? As Yes sirp.




You were in that room a considerable while, were you?
A. Yes sir, a little while.

While there the window of that rocom was open, wa

Yes sir, a2 little while.

And that looked out into another room? A. Yes sir.

Soon after that did iir. Carey go into that little room?

A. Yes sir, he came in aznd said there was two prisoners

for to identify if I knew them.

Then he put the window down? A. Yes.

Then you were brought out, were you. A, Yes sir, they
were brought out and put in a row and tle n I was called out.
Did you identify Coogan and O'Brien at that +ime?

A. Yes sir, I identified Coogan to the best of my opinion.
But you did identify him? A. I done it to the best of
my opinion and said he was like the man.

You were not positive on the last trial in regard to tle.
identification of Coogany
Were you present on ithe second fial of Coogan in Part

on the scecond day? A. Yes sir.

By the Court. Q. You were present every day? A. Yes sir.

By Counsel. Q. Do you remember when +the colored man was called to
the stand, the second day was he noty A. No, it was
only one day.

Qs Was i{ all in one day? A. Yes sirp.
The Court: I think it was one day. +he 24th the case commenced,
By Counsel. § You were ithere on the second day after you and the
¢olored man had testified, were you not¢ A. Yes sgir.

You were tle re on the second day? A. Yes sir.

When you went up to Part II. waere did you go to, d4id you

go into the room? Yes sir’




Did you take your seat on the bench up there.

sir, the same as I sat here.

And you indicated about where you were, I mean on the firsy

second, oy third bench? A. Yes sir, on the second I
guess, I could not say.
Toward the passageway? A. -Yes sir, the second or third
I just forget now, I ean't just tell.
Were you towards the passageway? A. I was sittihg in
the middle.
Do you remember iir. Carey coming in on that second day
with the defendant? A. Ho sir, I did not see that man.
Did youw see lLir. Carey come in on the second day?
A. o, I did not see him -- yes, I scen him coming into
that door.
Didinothe come in with this Defendant? A. No sir, not
in here as I see him.
Mot into this vroom, I mean into the room upstairsy
A. lie did not take him in where I seen inim .
Did not he have this man when he came in the door, pushing
him? A. No sir, not thazt I seen.
Q. Did he not sit him down in a seat over tle re just in that

position? (Yointing.) A. That wes not here.

Up in Part II. A. I never seen him in Part II.
You never saw thaty A. Not that I seen, I remember the
first place I secen him was in Jefferson Karkcte.

Qe 'ad he been there would you not remember it A. T might.

amcirg PTG ey

The Court: As maitter of fact I know that this man was in court,
I do not know where he was, I do not know that I saw him,
butnl had informamation from the idistrict Attorney that this

man was there.




By Counsel. Q. Did not you see Carey and the defendant ocecupy two
seats in the same position as this in Part II¢

A. No sir, I paid no attention to him at all.

e . .
Did you notice %7 on that morning when I came into the

Court? . A. Yes sir} I seen you walk in.

Did you notice me go Trom the position I was in over to
speak to somebody?¥ A. No, if you ran about many a place
speaking to people, I did not see it.

Did you see the Defendant taken by Carey back through the
audience to the boxv A. ¥No siy, I never passed no
remarks on him until I seen him in Jeiferson Liarket.

Did you sec the Defendant Moranciaken thr ough the audimnce
up to the box* A. No.

By the Court. Q. Did you see Lioran at all in Court that morning
-that you remember? A. No sir, not that I can rcmember.
With or without Carey you have no recollection of seeing
nim? A. No sir.

By Counsel.@. When you left the court-roum and went out did you see
those officers (pointing to two officers) in Part II, in
the corridor on that day. 3 sir, I seen one of
them come in and walk out again.

Pid you remain in the corridor of Part II. after you had
left the room? A. No sir, I sitood outside.
Did you stand outside? A. Yes sirw.
Court. Q. In the hall you mean? A. Yes siyr; you passed
me going out too.
Q. Who passed you, ir. Mchaughlin? A. Yes sir.
gounsel. Q. Were you in conversation with either one of the se
officers or Carey at that time? A. No sir.

Did you hear any remark of Carey or either one of these




of'ficers in regard to iioran as he went down staipys shackled,
A. No sir, I never heard his name mentioned until I heard
his name in JefTerson Market nor never seen the man until I
seen him there.

Court. Q. After Jefferson Market when you were down le re
on the previous trial, on the trial of Coogan, did you see
him on the hallway on that morning, the last day, were you
down the day the case was disposed of? Ae NO.

Did you hear any remark made on that day by anyone of these

officers? A. No sir, not a word.

Where did you go to afier you had lelt the building?

A. T weni to Jefferson liarket.

Did you go right to JefTerson iiarket. A Yes‘sir, I
went up there, this man wags 10 be in the market.

Who did you go up whth? A. I went up on the cars, that
officer showed me the way up to it that went out.

Court. Q. Did he go with you on the same car: A. Yes sir
but I got off and he went on home.

You rode up together and got off the car and the officer

went on home? A. Yes sir,

By Counsel. Q. Carey was it¢ A. No sir.

Q.
Qe

One of these other officers? A. Yes sirp,

And then you went direct to Jefferson rket? A. Yes

sir, stopped round about awhile -- two o'clock was the +time

to be there, I was there before it and stopped round therc

Did you see Carey go in with the Defendant? A. No sir.
saw the defendant

You never m=l in Carey's company at all until you kicked

him out in those seatsy A. Never.

You say most positively now that you never drank a drop

during that whole night? A« I say I drank no whiskey.




Nothing but sarasparilla® A+ Sarsaparilla.
And sherry the morning before? A. Yes sir.

‘Davis. Q. What became of the colorcd woman wino went into
the saloon with you? L. I do not know sir. she w nt out
she did not come in with me.

Court. Q. How long did she stay in there? A. I could
not tell how long she stayed in.

Did you observe her going out? Ae Mo
her going out.

How long did yow observe her in theyre A. I seen her

coming in and having a drink and going right out.

Did siie go up to the bary A. Yes sir, she had some
fellow with her.
Did she and that person go out? 4. I did not see the
bersons go out together, I ecould not tell, I seen her go out.,
By Mr. Davis. Q. iow ling were you inthe saloon altogetier?
A. It might be about half an hour or a 1lit:ile over, I
could not rightly tell.
Q. Did you know any of these reople, this defendant and othe rs
before you came to the saloony A. I never seen them.
By the Court. Q. Were you ever in that salocen® Ao Mever and
would not be only I was taken in.
Where 18 the bar-tendere £ [le was sitting behind the
bar on a chair, with his hecad down this way. (Illustrating
Who scrved the drink? A. It was a colored fellow served
the drink, the bar-tender was sitting on a chair.
What was this colored man doing? A. He was assisting
him attending bar, the regular bar-terder ag T supposed
was sitting with his hands .on his knees.

The bar-tender continued in that atvitude you described?




Q.

He stayed there the whole of the time.
Jackson was attending to the business of the place serving
drinks when you called for them? A. Yes sip.
low many drinks were called for by your party:
There was none called for only thce drink I paid for.
What weos Jackson doing? A. Jacks8on was serving the
drinks.
When all this matter was going on he stood behind +the bare
A. Yes sir, he stood beliind the bar.

Did he say anytuing? A. No sir.

a Juror. Q. Was it simply skylarking o» was it rousgh?

A. It was rough.
Rough pushing: e Yes siv.
Davis. 4. You got a blow between the eyes, didn't you?
A. Yes sip.
How many blows did you receive altogether? A. I received
three, a punch in the face and betwecen the ceyes.
Did you get any other? A. T mot a2 kicek in the thigh
and I got anoither kick in the belly.
Did ithey all occur at the same time? A. Yes sir.
Was that at or about the time you lost your moneyy
A. Yes sir,
Up to that time no one had struck you? A. No one had

struck me, that was the time the watch and money went.

You told us you Tell on the Ffloor: e Yes sir, I fell

on my side.

All the way downe A. Yes sir.

Did you at once recover yourself and get upp?

A. Yes siv, whenever I got up I hit the Tfellow that hit

me and put my hand in tie pocket and the money was gone.




By Mzr.
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Q-
Q.

While you were on the floor how near were they to you, were
they c¢lose to youe A. Yes sirv.

Did you feel the six catech hold of you? A. No sir.
Where were you kicked, in the side or leg? A. I was
kicked in the lefi leg.

In which pocket was this money? As It was in my fob

pocket here on the right hand side.

On which side of your body did you fall? HA. I fell on

tiie left side.

And the money was in the pocketv A In the right hand
side of my coat pocket.

Was that the side tha: was uppermost?

was the side that was uppermost.
Davis. Q. Was this colored woman the same onc you spoke with

on the street? A. Yes sir.

Zy a Juror. Q. Where was she when this fight took place, did she

go out before you? A She was awvay.
As soon as you went in there ycu had a drink? A.Yes sir.

And the fight began right away? ... Yes sir; she came

in and took a drink and her and the cther fellow went out.

By the Court Q. As soon as you enicred you had a drink?

A. Yes sivr.
tfow soon after you had the drink was the fight?

A. Right after we had the drink tie Ffight commeonceds—-—
tihe colored woman came in and had a drink at the bar.
How soon after you came in? - About five minutes.
How soon after you came in did the Tfight commence?

A. Pive or ten minutes.

She had gone Tive or ten minutes when the fight began?

A. Yes sir.




Q’.
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What do you call the beginning of the #ignht? As That
was the taking of the watch and the lifting mec up.

Did the fight last twenty mimates? A. Yes sir, not
altogether, sometimes I would be let locse and other times
thiey would be round me.

Do you ‘include the wieghing in what you call the fight?

A. Yes sir, it belonged to it.

How long a time was it from the % ime you were struck until

you got outAof the saloon? A. About a minute.

You were struck, you fell, you got up and missed your
rroperty and went out, is that it+ 4. Yes sir, the
door was open-ed for me then.

Who opened it, can you tell? ..+ I could not tell.

Did the bar-tender open it? Ao O sir.

By a Juror. Q. Vas this preliminary skylaﬁking or pushing done

with roughness® A. Tt was done with roughness.

By the Court. Q. This operation didn'+t lmirt you? A. 0o siyp.

Q.
Q.

You were not roughly handled at thaf timey A. Mo siy.
Did you consider it was rougsh treatment you were recelving
at their hands? A. Yes siryp.

In what respect? A. It was very rougnh for many people
to go around one strange man in a saloon.

In what did the roughness consisty they did not push or
hustle you in any wayat that time® A. No sir.

There was no roughness until you were struck? A. When I
was going for the door they caught me by the tail and pulli-
ed me back.

That was not rough was it, what did they say® A. I could
not tell what they said, they were talking to themselves.

Did they ask yeu not to &0 or make a2 suggestion to stay
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longer? A. No sir,

thiey never made no suggestion at all
Simply caught hold of you a2nd they caught hold of you

enough to pull you back? A. Yes sir.
Qe Who did that? A« I think it was Connor.
By = Juror. Q.

Ilow did the door get loeked and ihe preople all

standing around you? A. It vas two of +tie se Tellows,
I might mention their names.

By the Court. . TFord and O'Brien¢ A. Yes silr, those two

fellows always came for the door, no matter how quiek I

madewfor the door they would be sure to be there before me.
Who was with the colored woman¢®

e was a colored man-
How near were they to you when you were drinking

)

A. They were as far I suppose as from this down to that

door, they were down at ihe lower cnd and I was at this end.
By the Foreman. - While you were havin your drink they came in
g

and had their drink and went out? A. Yes sir.

By HMr. Davis. Q. Did you see them when they eame in® A. Mo siwy,
I did noit see them until they were at the bar.
Q. Did you see them &so out? A. Yes, I saw themwm walk to the
door,

To the side door® A. Yes sir.

¥hat were you doing when you saw them walking to the side

door? A. I was standing at the bar.

What were those other people doing? 4. They were the

same as me at the bar.

Had you had your drink yet? A. Yes sir, I had my drink
at that time.

Then it was before ihe halloecing began that they left the
pPlace? A. Yes sir.
Angd. they left through this door where you say Iord and

O0'Brien were standing when you went out?

A. Yes siry.




Q. And they left before you went to that door Ffirst? . Oyes.
By Counsel. Q. You say thait when you got up after falling the de-
fendant was sianding near you inside the door, is that
correct? A. Yes sir, that is correct.
I will rcad. from the testimony of the last trial: "¢. And
the man next to him, where was he standing?Y A.He was in
opposit me standing inside the door. (. And where was ior-
the young man standing, alongside of him again% A.Yes
sire, he was just at my side wherever I got up. Qe+ And
Lynch, the man with his hand in his side here, where was
he? A.They were all there." Did you so tesiify on the
irst trial? A. Yes sir, and I done the sawe now too.
By a Juror. 4. ¥hen you fell you fell on your lefi side?
L. Yes sir.
Q- Did you see anybhody, did you recognisze anybody bending
ovey you? A. I did not recognize anybody, I vwas in
too big a hurry to get up.

Q. Was the Defendant therev Ao Yes sir, when I got up

seen him standing right beside me.

When you got to your Feet dia you make for tie door?

A. Yes sir, I hit O'Brien and as soon as I put my hand in
my pocket the money was gone.
Was the door locked aficr you? Ae My hat was inside,
missed my money inside before I went oute
Did you make any attempt to go back? A. Yes sir, my hat
was inside, I went into the store and got my hait and went
to the station house.
Did they molset you when you went in ito get your hat?

A. Wo sir, I walked, it was lying at the swing door, they

were standing in the middle of the store.
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By the Ioreman. Q. Did you have that same coat on? 2 s sir.
Qe That is the hip pocket you speak of? A. Theire is the
pocket and there is where I had the money and watch.
2y Counsel. Q. Is that your signature? (Showing witness a paper.)
A. Yes sir, that is my name.
Q. You signed that in the i’olice Court when +this defendant
was arriagned there is that right, and swore to it?

A. Yes sir.

Coungel: I will read Trom the complaint: “"Police Court, 2nd Dis-

Sy

triet, City and County of lew York S.S.

Patrick McHenna of 835 Third Avenue aged thiriy year s;
occupation nightwatechiman, being duly sworn deposes and
says.: that on the 25th day of September, 1890 at the City
of Wew York in the County of ¥Wew York, deponent fully iden-
tifies james lioran now here as one of the oither persons
charged with robbery in the complaint made by deponent on

August 25, 1890, hereto amexed and was one

oi’ the persons
who lifted tic deponent. Deponent is infTormed by Patrick
iiorris, one of said defendants, that said :loran is the

person who searched deponent's vest pockets. Deponent

believing said information to be true charges tuat said
#oran did steal deponent's property fron the person by

force and violence as stated in deponent's complaint of the
25th of August, 1890.1" Did this man try to take your

property from your pocket? A. I did not say that, I

said that it was Lyneh put his hand in my pocket -~-- no,

Lynch did not %ake it, I did not say so.

the Court. Q. ‘he witness says that Morris informed him s0,

you believed it, is that all you say? A. Yes sir.




Ty Counsel. § Do yow beieve this man put his hand inyour pocket?
A. I believe some one did. ILyneh did not take the money

at that time, I had the money after it.

PATRICK MORRIS sworn and examined by :iir. Davis.

Where do you live, Horris? A. No. 255 ¥West 27th 3+t.

What is your business? A. Carpet layer.

You were charged with tihe commission or with being a party
to this robbery of tricKemna, were you not, and indicted and
subsequently dischargead? A, Yes sir. .

wvere you in that saloon on the night in question when
kcKenna was there? A. Yes sir.

Did you see this defendant the re?

Were you there when LicKenna came in?

Was the defendant there when ilcKenna came in? A.Yes sir.

Did you come in berlore ithe Defendant ci after nhim?

A. I could not say.

What time did you go ithiere to the szloon?
past twelve.

And did you stay on there until you saw licienna the rev

A. Yes sir.

Lythe Court.(. About what time was it? vies arvound halfl
past tirree or so.

Davis. Q+ The complainant came in? A

Do you recolleci when the defendant came in?

I do not.
Court. Q. Before or after the complainante

not say.

You cannot say whether iloran cane in —--— was iloran tle re

when the complainant came ine A. Yes sir.




Q. Then he must have besen there before him? A. Yes sirp.

By Mr. Davis. .Q. Will you tell us what took place therev

A. All as I know is while Coogan and I'ord held McKenna
this man (the Defendant) I saw his hands in his vest pok
{the complainant's), I did not see him taking anything.
You saw ifcKenna come in? L. Yes sir.

What did iicKenna do when he came in? A. HMim and Lr.
Ware went up to the bar and ordered some drinks.

Who dranky A. All I scen was Mr. Ware and dr. ileKenna.
Did you drink anything? A. No sivr, I did not drink
with them at all.

Did any of the others drinky A. I could not say.
What Adid you sce after that, afier you saw the drinking,
describe everything that took place from the time McKenna
came in that you sawe A. MeRenna made a break away
from them while going out to the door.

Q. What happened to cause iiim to make a break, can't you begh
at the begimming and tell us everything you saw, just what
each one did as far as you can recollect? A. AL T
seen was this man with his hands in his vest pocket.

Q. You saw icKenna drink something and Ware drink something?

A. Yes sir.

Q- Who else was tle rev 4. Pord, Coogan, 0O'RBrien, Lyneh,
Conmmor and a colered waiter and the bar-tender was asleep
and some woman in the box.

Qe  Vas this man tle re, the defendant: A Yes, e was
there.

Qs Did you see tie se bPeople do anything to iicilenna?

A. I seen Ford hitting him, striking him in the face.




Q. Was that the first thing you saw? sir, then all

rushed at him and pusihed him down.
the Court. ¢. Where was he when Ford struck him? A. Iie was

standing right alongside the bar.

Mr. Davis. Q. Ford stood alongside the bar and he stwuck LicKenna
in the face? . A. Yes sirp,
the Court. Q. Did you see the Weighing'process goling through
with? A. No sir, I did no%b.
Mr. Davis. Q. Wére you there all the +timev Ae Yes sir..
Qe You daid not sec anything of thatt A. Mo sir, not the
weighing.
the Court. Q. Anything said about weight the re? A. Not as I
know of.
Davis; Q. Was the first thing you observed lord striking
McKenna in the face? Ao That is the first thing I saw.
Where was McKenna standing then?2 A. He was standing at
the bar alongside of lLir. Ware.

By the Court. Q. Whatw was said at the time? Ae I could not say

By #r. Davis. 9. After Ford struck him in the Tace what was done?

A. They all grabbed and pushed him down towards where I
wag ani stood him up against the box and lord, Coogan,
O'Brien and this iioran —--—--

Grabbed hold of HicHenna? sir, grabbed hold of
nime |

And dragged nim where? A. Pushed him down towards me
and stood him up against the box as you com.in the side
entrance ~-- it is a private cofPice wiv re People go in.
What is it used for? Ae A drinking place.

How near to the side docr is thate A. I guess about

four Teet.
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They stood him up against that, did they. Ae Tese.
Tell us what eacnh man dias A. TFord and Coogan held him
and this man the deifendant I saw his hands in McKenna's
vest pocket.
Did you notice which pocket it was? A. Mo sivr, I could
not tell.
The n what was done? 4. Then HeKenna made a break awvay
from them and he was fumbled out of the door.
What was the fumbling? A. A kind of a rmiss.
And that lasted to tlhe door, the side door, did it?
A. Yes sir, until he got in the street, I don't know
where he went then.
What did this fulbling consisti of, who were the Fumblers?
A. Pour men and iicKenna.
Was licKenna Tumbligg the Ffour men? A. ile was trying to
et out away from them.
He was trying to get away frorn these four meny A.Yes sir.

And these four men were doing what? As They had hold of

him, I guess they were going to lick him.

Court. Q. Did they s+trike blows? A. I did not see bhlows,
pushing like that (illustrating).

Davis. Q. Pushing them how, just gently and lightlys

A. I could not say how they pushed him out, that is all I
Iknow.
Did they use any forcev A. Mo, I did not sce any foree
the docr was shut after.
Between the side of the box and the doorway you said they
Pumbled further to the doore A. Yes sirp.
Wow describe to us what was done, whether it was done gern—-

tly as if it were a polite invitation to wallk out, or




whether he was bounced out? A. He was trying to go out.

By the Court. Q. Were they trying to hold him in? A. I could not

say that they were holding him, taey were pushing him out.
By ¥r. Davis. Q. And he was willing to go out apparently?

A. Yes sir, he was willing.

Was this man, the defendant, one of those trying to put

him out? A. Yes sip.

Yoﬁ saw his hands upon him¢ A.‘Yes sir.

In orderitocget out of that door you have to go into a

swinging dooy firsty then there is a nallwvay or box and

another door into the strecet, is that right? A. Yes sir.

Did you see how iickKenna got outy did he go through the

swinging door? A« It was open, it was held back.

It did not swing to and fro but it was opan? A. Yes sir.

How far out did they come, diad you see? A. I could not

tell, I did not see.

bid you seemOKenna knocked down® A. No sir, I did nok.

What 4id you do when you saw nim go outy Al I stood

where I was right at the end of the bar.

How long did you stand tre re® A. I stood there I guess

about an hour or so.

About an hour afterwards? A. Yes sir.

You were there when the policeman came back, you were ar-

rested? A. I was arrested.

Who disappeared from that Place before the officer came

back? A. Them four men, Coogan, Ford, O0'Brien and

Moran.

Were those the four men who Tumbled him out? A.Yes sir.

Did they come -back after they did that? A« Only O'Brien

came back, that is all I saw.




How lohg did he stay? A. He was there until tcKenna
and the officer came.
0'Brien was there? A. Yes siwvp.
Was that all you saw of ity A. Yes sir, that is all.
Court. Q. How long was #cKenna in there, how 1dns aia you
notice him in there? A. I guess he was in the re about
half an hour.
You were there 2ll the time MeKenna was tle re? L. Yes
sir, I was there from twelve o'cloek until the time I was
arrested, a little after five.
CROSS FEXAMINTD.

By Counsel. Q.- Here is the end of that bar, iMorris was there,

the complainant as near as that to the end of the bar
{(Illustrating. ) A. Ho sirg
Where was hev A. e was up away from me as far as
that man sitting there (pointing).
Up in the middie of the bar or towards the fronty
A. Up to the middle of the bar.
While ¥ vas standing the re what did you see the defendant
Moran ¢ 4. Koran rusHed at him as soon as JFord hit
him and they all ran at him while Pord and Coogan held him
he had his hands in his vest pocket.
Qe Whiech pockete A. I could not say which; I seen his

hands moving like that in either one of the vest pockets.

By the Court. Q. You say Meirenna was standing at the time against
the partition, the boxw A. Against the box.

Sy Mre. Davis. Q. lad he been struck up to that time? A. Yes,
ne was'struck before and then he pusle d him down.

Q. Did you sceiMckenna strike anybodye A. No sir, I did nog

By Counsel. Q. Did you sec the defendant’s hands in both vesta
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pockets? A. I could not say which of them it was was in
the veste.
Prior to that who hit him¢? A. Ford.
Tell me did you seée this man come in the saloon?
sir, I did not.
Did you see Ware come in the saloon? A. Yes gir.
Did he come in the same itime the complainant dide
A. Yes sir, the two of them togethér.
Did you all drinﬁp A. o sir, I did not drink.
You did not drink at alle Ao Hot with him, no sir,
You were arrvested charged by this man the complainant, with

having sometning to do with this larceny, were you not?

A. Yes sir.

And confined sometime in the Tombs on this charge?

A. Yes siwv.
You were discharged from Part II¢ A. Yes sir.
Immediately after you say that this defendant was fumbling
with the pockets, what occurred? A. licKenna made a rush
to the door.
McRenna walked from the middle of the bar over towards the
side door? A. No sir, he was pushed down towards my
right alongside the box, up against the box, down towards
where I was standing.
You were standing where? A. At the end of the bar.
Hear the ice chest, that i simply near the entrance?

A. Yes sir.
Then he made a rush over to the side door, did he?

A. No sir, he was at the box at the side door when TFord
and Coogan held him and this man I saw faecing him.

But this did not occur up against the bare A. No sir,




it oceurred up against the box, TFord struck him when he was

at the bar.
But this fumbling that you speak of occurred up against

the box? A. No, as you were going out of the door.

£

By tBs Court. Q. Where was he pushed Trom? A. He was pushed

from the bar.
From the middle or further end of the
middle of the bar.
Q. Out toward the aoor, is that it¢ &. Yes sir.
By Counseli Q. That was before he touched his vest at all?
A. No, when e pushed him down Ford and Cocgan held him
up against the box and this man was at his vest against
the box.
He passed out where the swinging door is, is that right?
A. The swinging door was open.
And he passed out? A. He made a rush out and they all
rushed out.
Coogan and ¥Ford stopped him the rev A. I could not say-
You do not know who didv A. Ho sir.
You do not know whether he was knocked down there or not?
A. No sir. I do not.
But you are certain you were not in therev A. T was in
the store.
You were not in +this bPassageway where |.cKenna, Iord and
these other people were? A. No sir.
You are positive of that? A. Yes sipy.
If this complainant says you were tle re in the prassageway
he is mistaken when he lost the money out of the side
pocket? A« Yes, he is mistaken.

You had nothing to do with the taking of this money out of




his pocket in this rassageway’ A. No sir, I did no%.
Dida you have anything to do with %he weighing affair that
took place before that? £. Ho sir, I did not see the
weighing.
You did not take a dollar bill out of your pocket and malke:
a bet with him in regard to weighing? A. No, I did not
have a dollar.
You are horris? A. Yes sir.
Do you remember Lynch being therew A. Yes sirp.
Did he while iickenna was ar the bar try to take any prop-
erty from his vest?, or any rart of his person®

A. I did not see it.
You would have seen it if it had occurred? A. I did not
see 1it.
Did you see everything that did occur in regard to iicKenna
there? A. Fverything I saw I spoke it to-day here a

few minutes ago.

You saw McKenna come up against the bar, did you not, from

outside? A. Yes sir.

And take the drinks, is that rights A. Yes sir, take
the drinks.

You'saw him press down to where you were standing at the
counter, press over towards the box? AL That is the
time Iord hit him, I saw all that.

You saw him press over towards the waiting room up againsit
it A. Yes sir, up against the box.

You saw him go out into this passagewayy A. e was
fumbled out, I did not see the weighing or any betting.
You were in there all the time McKenna was theree

A. Yes sip.




You did not see any weighing? A. o sir, I daid not.

You made no bet in regard to weighing? A. HNo sir, I
did not.

Did you see Lynch put his hand in the pocket of this com~
plainant® A.HNo sir.

Or make an effart t0 take something Ffrom ite? A. No sirp,

I did not,.

Or from the fob pock&t? A. No sir I did not.

fou did not have hold of him by the back when that was
done or any time immediately afterwards? A Ho siy.
Were you in Part II, of the Court of Gemcral Sessions,
when the defendant was taken into the boxy A. Yes sir.
When next did you scc O0fficer Carey ¢ e Ih Jeftferson
irarket.
When next after this man came into the box? A Up in
Jefferson Morket.
Diq anybody come to you at the box in regard to this case
after this defendant was taken back to the box® A%No sir.
Nor at the :Tombs? A. Mo sir..
You were noi brought down fromupstairs to have a comversa-
tion with Officer Carey? A. lio sir,
Nor any other officer? A. No sirp.
Who brought you from the Tombs to Jelfferson iizrket?
A. I do not know the officer's name.
It was not Officer Carey? A. Ho sir.
Was it one of these two officers that were in here
A. No sir.

Did you have any conversation with Carey at all in regard

to anything you have testified to? A. No gir, I didwnot.

By M#z. Davis. Q. What were you doing all the time +that scKenna was
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in here down to the time that he was strueck by Ford, what

were youw:doing personallyy A. I was at the end of the

bar drinking a glass of lager.

Q. Who was standing there with you? A. Nobody but myself.

I had five centis,

o
Rl

By the Court. 2. You had not any money? P

that is all.

e e

By Mr. Davis. Q. How far away in feet were you Irom where LicKenna

stood? A. About from me to you.

Eight or ten feet away? A. I guess about that.

Could you hecar all the conversation going on beitween lickKenn

and these other people? A. I did not pay any attention
it.

Do you mean to say that nothing was said by them about

weighing or you did not héar what was said? A. T did

not hear it.

Do you mean to say that nothing was done by . ¢Kenna in the

way of putiing their hands on Him¥ Ao TPord went to

hit him and shoved him up against the box, that is all I

sawe.

Where did Ford hit him? A. In the face.

Hard or how? A. e nit him a.prctty good blow I guess.

That knocked him towards you, did itv Lo It staggered

him a little.

Did you sce him staggerv A. Yes sir.

lle did not fall at that time? A. No sirp.

Who was it that held him against the box? A.. Coogan

and Iord.

And this man the Defendant, was Tumbling around his pock-

ets? A. Yes sir.

After that had been done they fumbled to the doory




A. HMeKenna moved away and they fumbled going out of the

door.

By tlie Court. Q. Are you sure Ford struck him? A. Yes sip,

}s Suppose another witness had testified that it was O'Brien

what would you say to that? A. I say Ford hit him.

Q. You still say you saw Ford hit him? A. Yes sirv.

By_Counsel. Q. But you yourself had not anything to do with this
at all? A. No sirvr.

Q- And did not assisi the Defendant or help in any way to
deprive this man of his proye rty? A. MNo sir.

By a Juror. Q. Did you know all the people in that saloon?

A. I did not know the colored people, the colored womall.

Q. I mean the parties connected outside of the colored people-

(}To answer.)
By uir. Davis. Q. O'Brien, Coogan, Vare, Lynch and Connor?e

A. Yes siv.

By a Juror. Q. You had been with them all that night, had not you
been talking with them? A. No sir, I never associaied
with them.

By tl® Court. Q. You were there till twelve o'clocky A.Yes sip,
I was locked out and I went up there.

By the Foreman. Q. How did you know tihem, did you meet them the re

before? A. No sir ~-- 0O yes sir.

tie Court. Q. Had you gone often to that sd oon:
about the f£ifth tire I was in the place.

the Foreman. . Had you seen them there before? A. Yes sir.

Q. Seen the defendant there before? A. lo sir, I did not

see tihie defendant.

Kr. Davis, . This man Moran? A. Yes sir.

the Foreman. Q. You have seen him there belfore? A Yes sir.

]




iy Mr. Davis. Q. Did you ever see ieilcnna there before?
sir, I 4id not.

3y a Juror.

Q. You say yourself and these men were in the habit of

being in there togethere A. Wot with ne.
By $he Court. Q.

How many times had you seen them about?
A. About three times.

Qe Nearly all of them? A. Yes siv.
By Mr. Davis.

Q.- You do not belong to their party or their crowdy

A. Mo sir.

Q. You simply know them?

A. Yes sir.
iiya Jurox. Q.

How long have you lived in 27th .Jireet?

A. I was born there.

By the Court. Q@ How old are youv A I am twenty-two.
3y thie Foreman. Q. Flow long have you known Ford?
he came out,

A. Only since

I neveyr spoke to him.

tHow long ago was that.

A. A ycar or so.
What do you mean by "came out"®

Objected to. Objeection overruled. IException.
A Came out of prrison, that is 211 I know.
Q. Tver sgince iord came out? A. Yes sirp.
Iy the Court. Q. How long have you knewn this

defendant?
s I never spoke

to that man in my

life, I only
three or four times.

seen him
Q- How long had yowu knowr him by sight thent A. 1 guess
about two or three months or so.

Qs How frequently had you sccen this defendant in that saloon?
"A. About two orthree times.
Q- Do you know whe re he lived?

A
‘Counsel:

No sir, I do not.

I ask your Honor to strike out the question and answer
that I objected to and to charge

the Jury to disregard the




question and answer of the witness in regard to Ford.

The Court: How can it harm this defendant, why should T strike

it out? You make a motion without giving any reason --

maybe you may give me a reason that will convinece me.

Counsel: It may affect this jury in thc consideration of this

case.

"he Court: I shall charge them that it should not. One man
might be a thicf and be convicted, but they are to take

this man upon his merits. It may be a person might asso-

ciate in a place of that kind with some who may be con-
victs and others may be men of good charactey up to that
time. It does not necessarily Tollow ihat this man was a

man ol bad character, I do not know any thing about his

character.

Counsel: Note an exception.
By Mr. Davis. Q. Have you ever becn convicted of any crime?

A. No sir, I was arrested twice and was fined five dollars,

or five days.

You got five days sentence? A Yes siyr, my brother

paid the fine.

Tror what? A. I was on 8th Avenue one day, me and threc

or Tour others, I was small thon.

By the Court. Q. How o0ld were you? A. About fifteen or sixteen,

I was going along 8th Avenuc corner ol 20th or 21st Sts.
and in the middle of the block we stole some coffece beans
out ol a iea store, I ran with them and was arrested.
You got five dass or Ffive dollars fine fer thaty
A. I'ive dollars fine.
By the Poreman. Q. Tord is your friend in ihis case?

he is not.

By Mr. Davis. . Do you know where Ford lives?
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A. He lives 231 West 27th Stireet.

Q. Is he an associate of yours? A. No sir.

Q. Have you ever been in his house? A. No sir.

By a Juror. Q. Are you working now? A. Yes sir.

Q- Who do you work fory A. I work for Hrs. Temple, Union

Steam Carpet Works.
By the Court. Q. Where is that place? A. The ofice is 38 Last.
19th Street.
And the place of business where? 4A. Right next door %o
where I live, 227 West 27th Strect.
What do you work at? A. Carpet layer, I work in the
shop with my brother.
By a Juror. . When you were brought to the station house you were
accused of this crime of robbing this man® A Yes sir.
Q- Did you give the names of the people to the officers who
rarticipated in that crime or were you in the room at the
time? A. No sir.
Did not you know who was in the room® L. Yes sirv.
You were asked by the sergeant who were with you at the
time? A No sir.
You were not asked a2t all in the szation house? AJlTo sir,
Davis. Q. Who were with you at the time you were arrested?
A. There was Lynch, Conncr, Ware.

Were you asked anything about TFord, lorris, O0'Brien and

Coogan: A. No sir, I was not asked.

Were you asked by the sergeant oxr hy anybody else tie re?

A. No sir.
Did you volunteer any information about it? A. No sir.

Did you at any time while you were arrested state who was

there? A. To Lr. Carey.




You told him? A. I told him.
When did you tell him, was it before or after you went be-~
Pore the Sergeant? A. It was when I was in Jefforson
rarket.

In the Police Court? A. Yes sirv.

Who did you tell him was there? A. I told him the
rarties was Ford, 0'Brien, Coogan and Moran.

You to0ld him Moran then? A. Yes sir.

By the Foreman. Q. Do you know Vare? L. Yes sirp.

Q- How long have you known him? A. I went to school with
him I guess about Pfifteen years or so..

By the Court. Q. Was he with that partyy A. Yes sir.

By Mr. Davis. Q. Do you know Connors A. Yes sir.

Q. How long? £He About ten years.

By the Court. Q. You went there to see your friends? A. No sip,
I went in there, I was locked out and I had no place to fye)
so I went up there, I did not like to wake the people up in
the house to come down and let me in.

Did you go up there to sleep that night or to sit up?
A. Ho sir, I stayed up, I was going to work in the morning.
Q- What time adia you go to work? A. Seven o'clock.
Q- You went to tle saloon about twelve- A. Yes sirp.
By a Juror. Q. How did you know MceKenna was robbed? A. Only
what I scen.
Q.. Did you sece anybody rob him? A. I saw Horan fussing with

j his vest while Coogan and ;ord held him.

By anoiher Juror. Q. Will you tell me which of these men it is if

any that you have only seen two or three times, one of them
you have known ten yeéars and another you have known i fteen

and another you went to school with? e Ware I know




fifteen years.

Did you say anything to Ware when you came inthere with

him? A. No sir, I did not.

You say icKenna was robbed, how do you know he was robbed?
‘A. When Ford hit him this man here and 0'Brien and Coogan
shoved him down towards me up against this box and ford and
Coogan held him while I seen that man fussing with his
vest.
Court. . Vhat did O0'Brien and Coogan dov A. O'Brien
Jumped bacli and held the doowp.

What did Coogan do? A. Coogan heid him with Pord.
Coogan and Jord held him, O'Brien went to the door and
this man went through his pockets? A. Yes sir.

How many pockets did you see him touch? A. I could not
see him.

Describe the motion to the jury exactly what you saw him
do? A. That is the way I scen him (illustrating).

WVith the two hands or with one? A. With the two hands

like that.

By a Juror. Q. McKenna had run ouw, did you remain in the saloon?

Q.

Q.

A. Yes sir, in the same place.
Four of them alterwards went outv A. Meilenna and those
four went out.

Moran was one ofthose who went out? A. Yes sir.

By tRe Foreman. Q. Did you see him come back? A. No sir, I did

not.

By another Juror. Q- Did you hear any conversation amongst these

men as to anything that hagd taken place in the Tight or in

the robbery? A. No sir.




Mothing was referred to at all? A. Ho sir.

You continued your stand at the bar the same as before the
robbery without alluding to it in any manner, shape or Torm,
A. Mo sir, I was standing at the end of the bar in the
same place.
o conversation was had with you aml the bar-keeper or you
and the others regarding this matter? A. o sir, the
bar-tender was aslecep.
Did he wake up during this Ffight? A. He got up and
looked, that is all I seen-
Court Q. Did the colored man do anything? A. o sir,
he did not.
—
By a Juror. Q. Did you make any attempt to stop the robbery?
A. sir, I did not.

By Counsel. Q. Will you illustrate on me what the Defendant diade

A. While Coogan and TFord held him

By the Court. Q. You put HMr. McLoughlin in the position the De-
fendant was up against the wall® A. Coogan and Ford held
his aym, I seen him go like that (illustrating) I did not
see him doing anything.

By Counsel. Q. And that is all you saw him do? A. Yes sir.

By anduror. Q. Did not you see his hand in his pocket? A.I seen

- them going like, I could not say

By Counsel. Q. And that is all you saw him do¥? A. Yes sir.

By a Juror. Q. Who told you that kcKenna was robbed? A. When 1
was arrested I was put down as onc of thenm.

By Mer. Davis. Q. Do you know Lynch? Ao I know him Ffrom be ing
around ‘there.

Q. How long have you known him¢? A. Four years I guess.

By a Juror. Q. Do you associate with him outside the har?
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A.  Yes, I do.

Qe Where was he that day~ A. e was up at the front of the
box, he was working there that night.

Q. Where was he when McKenna was struck? ite was up at
the fronit of the box.

Qs tlow long have you known the defendant iir.

By another Juror.

Moran®?

A. Mr. Moran I guess three or Ffour months, I

never spoke to the man in my life.
By Counsel. Q. Did you see Moran prior to this alfair, you knew
lioran prior to this aifair, how long do you know himy
A. Three months.

By sight only?

JOHN CAREY sworn and examined.
Davis. Q. What precinet, Officerv A. The 16th.
Did you arvrest this defendant? A I did not.
Did you see him after he was arrvested? 4. Yes
Wherev A. The 16th precinet station house.
Who brought him in? A. I was informed OiIFicer
brought him in.
You do not know who brought him inv
Then you saw him? A. Yes sir.
Did you take charge of him® A. Yes sir.
What did you do with him¢ A. I brought him to this

Court the next morning.

Did you have any conversatibn with him concerning this
transaction? A. I first took him to the Police Court

and from there he was remanded to my custody and I brought

him to this Couvrt.




State what it was? A. He asked me what he was arrested

for and I told him he was arresived charged with being im=-

blicated in the robbery of :iiercenna.

What did he say to that? A. He said he was not suilty.

Did you have anything further to say to him oy he to youy

A. He said that he was in bed that night at the time that

¥

this occurred. I asked him if he conld prove it? He

said yes. I asked him how: He said that he bid the of~
Fficer on post good night +that night, the night of this al-

one o'cloeck and went nome and wenti to

legea robbery about

bead. I asked him if the officer wen+t with him and he

said no.
Did he state the name of the officere A. o sir.
Did he say ainy thing else? A. Nothing except that he
said he was not guilty of this charge.

Were you present at the time he was identified by icKennas

A. Yes sip.
State how that was done and where and when. A. On the
alternoon of the day of his arrest he was placed among tip
spectators in Jelferson larkei Court sitting in a seat

with his hat off.

Anybody else have a hat on? A. There was nobody had =

hat on, all haa their hais off’, Judge Gorman vas on.the
bench,and he went out among the spectators ang Picked him
oute.

Who Addiav A. Thecomplainant licKenna.

Dida you bring the defendant the rev A. Yes sip.

Did you tell him wvhere to sitv A. o sir, I dia nog, I

told him to &0 out and sit where he pleasedq.




By Counsel.

Q-

You told him to go out and sit where he nleased?

A. Yes sip.

Was the complainant anywhere around when you todd him thatv

A. He was in one of the examination rooms.

Qe ile was not present when you brought the defendant

there? A. No sip.

Or when you told the Defendant to take a seat and when the

defendant took a seat MeKenna was not tle rev A. He was

not in the court-room.

He was in some other room, was he% A. Some other room.
What did the deicndant sayy, when McHenna Picked him out?
He said that hewas innocent of this charge.

A
£le

CROSS RXAMINTD.

Qe Officer Carey, were you present inthe station house

when Coogan and O'Brien were identified? 4. I was.
You brought tle se two men Coogan and O'Lrien from the cell
below, did you not? A. Yes sipr ———- no, Coogan and
0'Brien was not there together I do not think.

Coogan anda Ford} A. Yes sir, Coogan and »ord.

You took them up from the cells bhelow to the office floowr,
is that righte? A. Yes sir.

You took them back +o the passageway to the rear office?
A. To the sitting-room.
The rear sitting-room —--- in the meantime the complainant

was in your litile room? A. Yes sirp.
Does the window open and look out on that Passageway?
A. There is 2 window there which can be opened.
it open on that day in question®? A« I think it was.

did not shut ity A Mow I etme to think it was open

I did shut it to the best ol my recollection.




After these two men had bassed through to the back room?

A. T do not remember now.

A

You are not certain in regard to it? A« I am not certain.

On the seconad day of the trial in Part II, you brouszht the

defendant into Part II of this Court? A. Yes sipr.

-

Shackled to you? A. Lo,
Did you have him handeuffed +to you as you came to court?

o

A. Not handcuffed to me.

Explain how he was? A. I could not tell whether he was

nandeuf{Ted Fo0ing to Jefferson Market.

A

I mean as you came into this Courts 4. I romember he

was handeuffed ai: one time and I had the nippers on him at
another.

By the Court. Q. There is a difference between whati you call hand -
cuffs and nippers? A. Yes sir, handeuifs are the irons.
What do you call nippers: A. Nippers iz twice with a
couple of little sticks on them seven inches long.

By Counsel. ¢« Did you have cuffs on hin As The curlifs were on
aiv one time, I could not tell you which.
That is connecieq by a chain to the second cuife¢ A. Yes.
The cuff wzs on this arm and you had the other cuff in your
hana« A. Yes sir, at one time.
Did you so have him when you took fiim into Part II of the
Court of General Sessions? Ae I think not.
Do you remember taking him into the tourt of General Ses-
sions and sitting down pPrior to the meeting of the Court
about in this position in two seats (illustrating)?
A. I remember taking him into the Other room.
You took Wim in there to see ip. Gofry

Court. 9. What do you mean by the other room?




A. The waiting-room on the other side.
What do you call the wait-room of Part II v £. A dittle
room on the other side where witnesses stay.

Across the hall? A. yes sir, there is where I took

him in.

By Counsel. {. Don't you remember having him in a seat that cor-

responded to Part II ---- that he sat over against the

railing®? A. I might have.

Do you remember me coming over and speaking to him and

asking why he was there? A. I do not remember, I
might have.

You do not remember thaty A. I do not at present.

Did not you have the shackles on himy A. I do not knov,

I do not remember azll those trifling things.

Do you know whether lickenna was in the court~room at that

time, did not you bring him into the body of the court, I

mean within the railinge? A« I brought him into the

body of thie court and then I was ordered to put him in the
box and aid so.

But prior to Mr. Goff reaching the couri-room didn't you
have him seated in one of those chairsy A, I might have.
You wont say you did not® A. I wont, I broushti him in,
I don't know what transpired.

Do you know whether ¥MeKenna was in the court-roomy
A. To the best of my knovledge he was not, I will explai n
myself about that if you will allow me.
You can tell whether he was or not, can you?
tell to the best oFf my knowledge he was not.
You took him from wherecver you did have him in tho court,

didn't you, and took him back to the boxy A. I diq.




gl idn' [ A a
He then had the shackles on, didn't he? That I could

not say, I do not remember where I +toolk the handecuffs olf
him.

Don't you remember the shackles being on in the box and
rutting him into it? 4. I do not remember, I do not

know, I think I might have left them in the rcom ouiside.

et

JAMES . MADDEN sworn and examincd.
Aﬂﬂvtr't:d
By Mr. Ge=pPf. Q- What is your full name<y M. James F. iadden.

Q- What precinets A. 18+th.

Q- Did you arrest Moran, the defendant? A, Yes sir.
And where? A. In a liguor store, 24th St. and 7th Ave.
Whose liquor storevy A. HicBvoy, I think that is the
name of the party.

Do you remember about when you arrested him¢
latter part of September as near as I can recollect, while
the trial was in progress.

Q. While the trial of the others was in progress? A.Yes sigp.

By the Court. Q- Was it the day before thaty A. I could not
your Honor.
K1 Davis. Q. What time of day was it you arrested him?
A. It was about half past twelve o'eclock in the night.
What was he doing® Al iE in this liguor store talke
ing to another man, in 24th Stireet and 7th Avenue.
What did you say to him when you arrested him-
A. T beckoned +to0 him and told him to come outside, that
I wanied him.
Did he come outside? A. Yes sirv.

€. When you got outside what did you sayvy A I told him I




was going to arrest him.

Tell us now all that was said righv there¢? A. I says to

. . . N 1
have got yourself in a nice box, haven't you,

him, "now you
I went to him a week before that, I heard a greai deal of

conversation, that he had gone around the avenue

Objectead to.

The Court: I will kecep the conversatiion out —-— the fact that he

heard a2 conversation I wons kcep out.

Counsel: That I don't object to.

A sip. .

By Mr.Davis. Q. You had hcard = conversationy A. Yes

3y the Court. Q. You said, "now you have got yvoursell in a nice
scrape”, is that it% A. Yes sir, something like +that.

By Mr. Davis. QL You had seen him a week before, then you went on

J

to say you hecard a conversation. A. A weck before thst

I went to him, I got him in this same liquor store, I

brousht him outside, I asked him what he knew about this
case, wvhat talk he was having, going around and trying to
intimidate the people that went down there to tell the
truth.

By the Court. . You asked him this, did you- A, Yes gir.

By #r. Davis. Q. Try to get exactly what was said, this was a week
before his arrests A. As near as I can remcemberp.
You went to him a week before and you had a certain con-~
versation with him? A. Yes sir.
You may not be able to remember the exact words but tell us
the substance? A. T remember very near it.

By the Court. Q.Go on and tell usv A. I says, "what do you
know about that robbery case in 27th Street and 7th Ave.uww

He says, "I don't know anything at all about it.v I said,

"it seems you have been going around saying, "you will




stamp fellows out and hit them & cerack in the head that
will send them asleep if they appear as a2 witness against
Ford, Coogan and O'Brien." I says, “if you know an/thing
about it I will bringyou down to the District Attomey's

office and give you a chance to tell what you know down

there. " He denied at that time that he knowed anytihing

at all about it.
What did he say, do you recollecthy A. He says, "I
don't wanti to get into no sérape, I don't know anything
about it, them fellows are in =z hole and let them stay in
it, they did not help me when I was in a hole."
Then what else was said? A. Then Officer lialoney had a
conversation with him.
In your presence? A. Part of the time in ny presence,
I did not hear the whole of it.

By the Court. Q. Tell us what you heardy Ao Tt was about tke
same thing that O0fticer Haloney said to him that I did ——-
you have been going around here taiking; I told him ithen

myself, "you can't knoeclk nohody out around heie that waniss

to come down and tell the truth®; I says, "if I hear any

more of this talk I will take you doewn there and Hive you a
chance to tell all you know.

Have you stated all that you can recollect? A. Yes sip.
Were any names +to whow he had spoken mentioned in the con-
versation with him? A. No sir, I did not mention no
names.

Did he mention any names¢? A. No sir, he wanted to
know who it was and I would not tell him.

Then what did you do with him® A« I let him go then.




And then you arrested him a week afterse A. About a week
alfter as near as I can recollect an order came up fFfrom the

Distriet Attorney's office.

Did you have the same conversation then when you arresced
him? A. Yes sir.

What was 1t? A. I told him, "you see what your cocipany
got you into, you have becn going down there and visiting
these people in the Tombs;" he adnitted that he had.

What did he say? A. He said, "yes, I have been dowmn

there once , " I think he said.

What else was said? A, That is about all that I can
remember on the way to the station house. When I had him in
the station house I says, "you arc arrested for the same

thing and on the way going to the station house I told

him that.
Did he say anything then? A. No sir, he said he was
innocent. I said O'BErien said that the night we went after
him, he pleaded guilty after all.
You said that to the defendant? Ak I said that +to
iicCann, I did not know Iim by any other name.

By the Court. Q. When you say licCan you mean this man®

A. Yes sir, that man there.

You knew him as LicCann® A. Yes sir, he did not have them
whiskers on.

Davis. Q. When you got to the station house was anything
saide A. No sir, I turned him over then to Detective
Carey.

Did you have anything t0 do with him afterwards?

A. No sir.




CROSS EXAMINID by Counsel.

You turned him over %o the tender mmrecies orf Detettive

Carey? A. I turned him over to the sergéeant that had tile

desk that night for Detective Carey.

You arrested him for Detecgive Carey didn't you this sccond

time? A. Yes sir. )
On his direction? A. Yes sir, the ward detective.
This conversation that you have spoken of in the first ine
stance occurred how long before the day of the arrest? .
A. As near as I can recollecet I gueuss about a week.

You saw lioran a great ﬁany times betwsen that time and the
day you arresied him? A. No sir, I never saw him once.
You did not ses him at alle A. No sir, from the time I
had the conversation with him till T arréstod him I never
saw him.

How long have you been on the police forece? A. Fifteen;
Vears:neXtiFuly.

How long have you been connected with the isth precinet?

A. All that time except about one yvear.

Detail® A. No siy.

How long have you been detaileds - Going on two y ears

there this last time.

Your name I did not catch? A. James F. Madden.

DAWIEL J. MALONEY sworn and examinecd.
By Myr. Davis. Qe What precinet are you attached to¢9 A. The 16th

pPrecinct.

Q- 0 ficer Haloney, do you know this defendant? A. Yes




How long have you known ihim? A. About two years.

Do you remember the time when he was arrested here upon

this charge? A. Yes sir.

Did you sce him within a week prior to his arres+t?
A. Yes sir, about a week.

Did you have any conversation with him? A. Yes sirv.

R

Will you state what it was? A. I met him on the corne -
of 24th Street and Seventh Avenue and I asked him ———-

5y the .Court. Q. Was anybody with you¢? A. Yes sir, Officer

s SRR

liadden. I asked him what he knew about this case 27th St.

e

and 7th Avenue, what he had so mach to say about it for,
he had anything to say about it why the Proper place was
for him to come down here and explain it. le said he dia
not have anything to say about it. I told him he had,
several people said he did. e said, no. I told him ne
had better not say any more abhout it, he had bLeiter mind
his own business, it he had anything to say about it to
come down to Court; that is all I had to say to Iim.
Did you have any conversation subsequentlyy A. HNo sir.
CROSS BXAMINFED by Counsel.
You met him§ and when you did meet him was Officer ladden
with you? A. Yes sir,
You were both together at that time? A. Yes sir, both
together.
You have heard all the conversation that took place he-
tween this defendani and iiadden, did you not? A.Yes sir.
Is what you have stated here all that occurredy
A. That is all that occurred.

Nothing more than that? A. No sir.

. Ho further conversation of any kimd ¢ Fo sir, not at

that time.




By the Court. Q. Did you hear iMadden say anythinpy A Hladden
stated about the same thing that I did.
Did you hear any words from Madden to this defendant as to
what he was charged with having said about it? A. Yes
sir, he told nim. about the same as I have stated.

Did you hear anything said about interfering and intimidat-

ing¥ A. Yes, he said he was inverfering with a2 man

named Connors, he said he had heard he stopped Connors sev=
eral times on 7th Avenue and said if he would appear as a
witness against him down here he was liable to get his head
carried off.
That is what iladden said to him on that occasiont
A. Yes sir.

By Counsel. Q. You are sure that iadden saild to the defendant it
was O0'Connor? A. Yes sir, Connors.
That O'Connor was the man that he was talking to?

A. No, this man iadden was talking about that night.

He was talking to him about some conversation that he had
with Connors, is that right? A. Yes sir.
He namned the man? A. Yes sir, ne said Jonnors for one
and he said others, he did not mention their names.
He did not refuse to tell him who it wasy A. Ho sir.
Ofticer, youremember.the second day of the trial in Part It
do you not? A. I was not in there at all, I remember
the trial.
You were outside? A. Yes sir, I was outside.
You were out in the hall? A. Yes sir.
Do you remember Officer Carey coming on that morning with
the defendant? A. Yes sir, I was out inm the hall, I

saw him.




He was shackled to Detective Carey, was he not?

A. I believe he was, yes sir.
And entered the court room by the side door? A.Yes sip.
You say you were not in the: court—room at any time?

A. I was in there before the trial went on.
I mean after Carey came in with Moran: A. No sir.
So you do not know wlere he was seated in the court-room?

A. No sir, I do not.

Were you out in the passageway when ioran went down stairs
to the vane A. Yes sir.
Was Officer Madden there at that timey A. I believe he
was =-- no, kaddcn was not tle re.
Was Carey there? Ao Carey was there, liadden was not
down there at all.
Do you remember the complainant McKennas
was down there.
He was near you and Carey was the re? A. Wot when he
ﬁent out, I did not see himihere, he was sitting in court
somewheres.
You are positive he was not theres Ao No sir, he was
not standing near me I am positive.
If he says so he was mistaken? A. If he says he was
standing near me he is mistaken.
You were both togethers A. Mo sir, Carey was not near
me at all.
Did you have any conversation with Carey or Carey with you
when this man went down towards the vant A« No sir,

Carey walked out of the court-room and took him down stalrs

What I am talking about is after he came to the court—robm

!

wasn't it upstairs and didn't he go into the box?




A. No, I daid not have no conversation with him.

Do I understand you to say that Carcy took him out back

again® A. No, I do not know whether Carey tock him

back again or not, I know he went out about the same time
that Carey went out, I am not positive whether Carey took

him out or not.

THOMAS J. O'CONHOR sworn and exanindd.
Davis. Q. Where @ you live, 0'Connor? A. 221 West
Street.

What do0 you work at? A« I perform for anybody at
travel all around.

Court. Q. In what line do you perform? A. Sing and dance.
Davis. Q. Sing and dance is it9 A. Yes siry.

Do you remember seeing the complainant Patrick Mcllenna on
the 28th of 4ugnst early in the morning in this saloon on
the corner of 27th Sireet and 7+tir Avenue? A. Yes sir.
Vas this defendant Moran theres A. I did not see him.
You did not see him? A. No sirv.

Do you remember seelng noran after that, the Sunday evenirmg
after? A. Yes sir, on a Sunday eveninge.

WVhere? A. 24th Street and 7th Avenuec.

That was how many days after the time you saw Mckenna in the

saloon? A. Monday morning we were arrested and thenntle

following Sunday night.

About a week after; he Yes siv,

1e Court. Q- You were the bail were you not? A.Yes sir.
Davis. Q Did you have any conversation with ¥ ran about

this affaire A. Mo sir.




Did you have any talk with him¢ A. Not with him, I had
with some people that was with him.,

Some people who were with him? A. Yes sivr.

Vho were they? A. One of them is -dead now, his name
is John Duffy.

sel. Q. This Defendant was not present when you md the con-

versation with Duffy? A. Yes sir.
By Mr. Davis. Q. He was present? A. Yes sir.
. f{How near was he to you when you had the conversation with

Duffy? Ae. About two or three feet.

Q. In what tone of voice did Dulfy speak? A. A very sickly

voice, you could not hardly hear him.
By the 6ourt. Q.- Was Moran as near to Duffy as you were?

A. Yes sir.

Davis. Q. Did you hear what buffy said? A. Yes sir.
What was the conversation? A. He 1old him that if he
came here to testify —~——-

Objected to.

Court. Q. Duffy said this in iioran's presence? A.Yes sir.
» || Duffy said if he came here to testify —----
Counsell: It relates, your Honor, to what has been testified to

by these two last officers, it relates to a distinet and

different thing, it has not anything to do with this case—-f

anyhow I object.

Mr. Davis: Anything said in the presence of the defendant is

proper.

The Coth: Objection overruled.

By the|Court. Q. Duffy said in the presence of the delendant what?

A. If I tell on the stand, testify against any one of tle

prisoners including Mr. MHoran —-—e--

+




Counse

Did he say, including Moran"? A. Yes sivy, that they

daylights
would knock my » =~— to put it in a different way.
P
Davis. Q. How did they put it? A. They would knock ny
daylighi.s
damn swetd out.

What did you say to that? A. I told them I was not

afraid of tle:m.

Did ioran say anything? A. Mo sir, he 4did not.

Did he stay there all the time during this conversation?

A. No sir, he walked on.

Couxrt. Q. Moran made no threats? A. No sir.

{
|

Davig. Q. Moran did not say anything? A. No sir.

Now did you see lioran after that day? A. No sir, that

is the last I saw of him until I saw him lpre in the court-—

padelolsly

r
i
i
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1: Now I ask your Honor to strike from this record and di~
rect this jury to disvegard in toto what was said by this

man Duffy in the presence of this defendant.

The Court: I will hear you iir. Davis.

Kr. D%vis: Anything that will show the Defendant's interest in

|

H
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Of course the defendanti
! is here and he can deny it, the gquestion is as to its rel—g

I
¢

evancy if it did happen.

i
this charge against him -~- anything that will show that hd
is meking efforts to kecp witnesses Trom testifying against

him would be admissible in this trial. liere was Lioran

and Duffy together talking with this man who was a witness

and Duffy says that if this man comes down here and sits in

this witness chair and testifies not only against the otha'T

but Moran, this defendant, that they will knock his day-

. . ~
lights out. Moran is there and does no say anything,

giving his adherence and also his consent to the s tatement




The Court:

kMr. Dav

Counsel:

of Duffy and his silénce shows that he was interested in
what Duffy said and that he also endorsed what he said,

Only so far as consent is by silence.

igs: That is sufficient consent. tHere Dutffy makes a

threat in Moran's behalf in the presence of iioran, relating
to this charge and Moran does not say anything.,

The only reason for this rule , if your Honor pleases, is

that the conversation muast be such as the party charged

(To th

The Cou

should deny and if he does not do so it is admissible.

1yt I will ecall your attention to the words of the witness, !

"including lioran', that Duffy then used.

> witness. ) Q. Do you say so now'y A. Yes sip.

art The words '"including iMoran® have not they a tendency to!

show that iMoran was concerned in the commissionmof the

offence and what ws done in that saloon at that time? I

will admit it. Objection overruled. ‘xception.

The motion is denied.

motion, the motion to strike out is denied. Exception.

CROSS IXAMINED by Counsel.

You are not afraid of Carey, are you? A. Wo sir.

|
|
!
]
!
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You renew it in the form of a’
!
!
!
i
i
|
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This defendant was not in that salcon, was he? A.

not sce him.

Byhthe

Q.

Court. Q. You wecre there all the timee L. Yes sir.

From what time until whene? A. T'rom a gquarter to two

until we were arrested, half past six in the morning.

nsel. Q. You would have scen him il he had been there?
A. He was in the same box.

You knew when these facts took place with the man, didn't

you, the robhery? A. Yes sir.

I did not see him

A

Was he in that saloon theng A. Mo sir,




if he had been there you would have seen him?

A. Certainly.

art: That don't follow, if he had been there he would hawe

seen him, he might have shut his eyes, he might not be

telling the truth, the question is, did he see him.
sel. Q. Did you see him? A. Ho sir, I did not.

0'Connor, you were present in Jefferson Liarket on the TFirst

arraignment of this defendant, were you not? A. Yes sir.
Carey sent you up? A. Yes sir.

Sent you up with a negro? A. Yes sir.

Both went up togethers Ae Yes sip.

Do you remember Carey talking to you just at the foot ofFf
the stand when you got up before the Judge? A. I do,
¥es sir.

And I came down to you as he was talking to you?

A. Yes siv,

Was he at that time trying to prevent you from testifying

for this defendant? A. No sir, he only asked me was
that the gentleman.
By thelCourt- Q- What? A, If I could recognize the man as the
man being in the place%?
By Counsel. § Do you know a man of the name of Rogan? A.Yes siv.
Q¢ ll Was not Rogan the other man, the fourth man? A. That is
the man I am pretty certain.
Wasn't he the man that was with these three other man in
that saloon around lMcEKenna? A. Yes sirv.
He was the one that was aiding and assisting him, was he
note A. Yes sirv.

It was upon information thaz you gave Carey that lord,

Coogan and O'Brien were arrested? A « Yes sir.




You gave him the information? A. I dia,

You gave him the information in regard to Rogan, didn't
you? A. I daid, certainly.

You did not say a word about ioran, did you?

not sec him doing anything.

He was not the fourih man, was hev A. No sir, he was not,
Do you know where Vare wase¢ A. I do not, no sir.

Court. Q. Did you sec him that night: A. Ware, yes sir,

sel. Q. Do you know wvhere he lives? A. Ye. sir.

Where deces he live? A. 245 West 30th Street.

Davis. Q. O0'Commor, aid you take any otler part in this af-
fair in the saloon? A. Mo sir, none whatsoever. ‘
Did you see it all from beginning to end? A. Yes sir,Ididé

What did you see done to ricKenna? Ae Well sir, he came

s

in that saloon with this ¥r. Ware and he walked over to the

et AT S g
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bar to have a drink and the colored lady camie over and
slapped him on the shoulder with her hand, McKenna the

complainant, and said, "you are my man, I wantv you to come

|
)
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home with me", and he said, "I don't want to have nothing
to do with her." So all those people was in there, iir.
Ford, O'Brien, Coogan and this fourth man Rogan, myself,
vir. Ware, ir. Lynch, Morris and two or three otle r people
which I can't remcmber who they were now. So this MR.
Ware said, "this is a friend of minec, 0'Connowr, Mr.MckennaE

I shock hands with him and said, "1 am pleased to meet

you, will you have a drink?" He said, "yes, I will take

a glass of lager; we had three glasses of lager.
Court. Q. Did icKenna drink any lager? A. Yes, with me
he did; +this Rogan, the man I have reference to, walked

over to hir. McKenna and says, "I think I can guess Your




By Mr.

Q.

weight." LicKenna said, "I don't want to have nothing at
all to do with you." He said, "I will bet you weigh one
hundred and eighty-five pounds"; Ford walked over and say,
"I will bet he weighs one hundred and sixty"; then uir.
0'Brien says, "I will bet he weighs one lundred and eight';
they got the man so excited that he gave in to be weighed,

what they called wieghing; this .‘r Rogan took him on his

back and while he was on lMr. Rogan's back Lir. Coogan put
his hend in his right pocket, his outside coat pocket, and
whatever he tock out I can't tell, I did not see it.

Court. . Did you see him have anything in his hand?

A. Wo sir,\he put his hand in his pocket, right side
coat pocket, O'Brien put his hand in his watch pocket and
Ford haid him on top
back and the man was siruggling to get off, hicKenna, and
when he did get off he kind of stagsered a little bit and
immediately Ford hit him and knocked him down; he ran

over and they caught him at the partition side of the room

and ir. Coogan put his hand in his right pants pocket aga n
So the man was itrying to struggle to get away from them
and he fell and he got up and crawled out the best way he
could. Coogan, Yord and O'Brien followed him out and
Rogan held the door on the inside; that is all I saw.

x

Davis. Q. Where was Ware, was he there also? A. Yes

2.

How long have you known Ware? 4se About seven or
eight years.
Lynch was there and you were there? A. Yes sir.
Of course you tried to stop them Ffrom robbing this man?
A. No sir, I did no% go near him either to help him or to

have anything to do with the robbery.

f
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You certainly did, didn’'t youy A. I did not, I diad

not put my hand near him.

Did not you try to help him? A. No sir, because I
knew the people whose hands he was in, I did not want to
take no chances.

APter it was done you went to the police siation and told

the police? No sir.

You did not even do that? A. No sir.

You went out to look for a policeman, didn't you?
A. HNo sir.

Where was Lorris when all this was going on¢

was standing =2t the end cf the bar, the lower end.

Did he take & unand in it &e o sir, he dia not.

Vare, O0'Connoy, Lynch and ikiorris had nothing to do with it
A, Wo sir,

There were Ford, O'Brien and Coogan who did?

0'Brien and Coogan,

And a young man that you call Rogant

You say it was not this man, the defendante
I did not see that gentleman.
You are sure therc were four who helped to rob him?
A. Yes sir,
Court. Q. How long have you known Rogan® A. I only know
him fyrom coming in that night, I know his name.

How long have you knowm licrrisy A. I know Horris abouil

ten or twelve years.
Do you know whether he is acquainted with Rogan?
A. No sir, I do not think he is, he might be.
So 21 as you know you have no knowledge on the subject

whether he is acquainted with him or not? A. I would




not say positively.
Davis. . Did you say how long you have known Liorany
A. I did not know Moran at all, the First time I ever
saw him was that Zunday evening.
By the fourt. Q. Do you know anybody who was in that saloon that

night who knows Roganv A. The three people that

were sentenceéd know him well I guess and the prisoner knows

him.

By Mr. Davis. Q. Where do you live 6'Connor- A. 221 West zéth.

How long have you lived there? A About nine or ten

months.

The Court: Rogan is a new character on the scene.

Counsel Yes sir.

By Mr. [Davis. Q. Did you testify on the other triald A. No siry,
I did not get no chance.

You say you mentioned this name of Rogan to Carey®

A. T did, yes sir.

And to the other officers, Madden and Maloney?

A. Yes sir.
To all three of tlhem¢ A. T am pretty sure I did.
Don't you know whether yvou did or notw ..o I know I
mentioned it to iir. Carey.
Did you mention it to Madden¥ A« I would noi say pos-—
itively whether I did or not. .

Did you mention it to iLialoney® A. Yes sir.

insel. Q. Coogan, O'Brien and the other man were not ar—
rested until you gave the informationy Ao No sir, they
were not.

Ware, Lynch, lMorris and yourself were discharged by hnis

ilonor, Judge HMartine? Ao Yes sirvr.




dourt. Q. When did you Tirst hear Moran's name in connce-
tion with this case? A. That Sunday evening when I was
going down Seventh Avenue.

That is the first time you ever leard any mention of Moranv

A. Yes sir.

Did you make any response to the suggestion when they used

the words, "including ioran"? 4. I daid not say nothing

You said nothing® A. I said nothing.

Were not you surprised to hear loran's name mentioned?

A. Indeed I was, I wanted to get away, I thought they
were going +to kill me.
Were you afraid? Ne There was too many, tle re was six.:

Were you afraid? A. I was not afraid, not muach.

You were able to take care of yourself?

As matter of faet, you were not afraid, were you?
A. No, I was a little worked up.

You told the:: you were not aflfraid? A. I did.

You say you were surprised to hear ioran's name mentioned?

A. Yes sir.

Did you express any surprise¢ A. Ho sir.

As matﬁer of fact you were surprised? A. Yes sir.
And yet you never gave any expression to it or indicated
it in any way? .. Mo, not in any shape or manner.
You knew iLioran was not there? I am positive.

You heard somebody make a suggestion that Ir was in some

way implicated in this crime? A. Yes sir.

You never indicatedto anybody until Carey that you knew
anything about Rogan, only to Counsel? A. No sir.
Counse I have had repeated conversationts with him.

The Coprt: I suppose so, it is your duty.

20




Counsel

By the

I never asked the witness about Rogan.
tourt. Q. When did you firs:i tell anybody about Rogant
A. The first day I was arrested.
Vho arrested you? A. Detective Lialoney.
Who 4did you tell® A. I told Myr. Maloney in the station

house.

A minute ago you said that you did not tell aloneyy

A. I never saw the defendant Liackin, that is the name

went by. until that Sunday night.
you know he is here under the name of ioran? A. I saw

on the subpoena.

You never heard him called lioran? A. Mo sir,

When :id you hear him called iackin? A That sunday
evening, liackin is the name I always knew him to go by.
What was it Duffy said- A. _dirst he said, vYis this tle:
man you were looking Ffor?" I séid, “no, I am looking for

nobody, I am going about ny business.® He says, "if you

go on that stand to testify against any of them people, I

S

will knock your damnméaylights out?

Did he say including Moran or Mackin?

iitackin.
Did he say both? A No sir..
Which did he say, Moran or Liackiny A. lle said liackin.
Tell the Jury again what he saidy Ao Ile $01d me if I
went on the stand to testify against any of the prisoners,
including :iiackin, he would knock my damn daylights gut.l

el: This is taken all under objection.

urt: Yes.

Davis. Q. iackin was not srresited and had not been indicted

charged with the cerime then? A. No sir.




And Duffy spoke to you of iackin, your testifying against
Mackinv A. Yes sivy.

You told Duffy then and there that lackin wasnot there,

didn't you? A. ¥o sir.

You knew :ilackin had not been tire re- A. I knew he was
not there. ‘

You did not tell Duffy that you did noi intend +to testify

against liaeking A. The man had not been arrvested at

that time.

@ourt. Q. When daid you first sec iiackin? A. On the fol-

lowing Sunday night, I was out on bail, I was arrested
lionday and got out Thursday.

Is that the night you refer to¢ A. Yes sir, that is tie
Tirst night I ever saw him.

How do you know that that person there was ilackin or Lioran
he was talking tp? A. He pointed him out to me, I neve
saw this man until that night.

You never had any conversation with him? A. No sir.

el. Q. He never threatened youo A+ No, he neveyr did.
This man Duffy is his name who threatened you? A.Yes sir.
lie is dead since? A« Him and two other men threatened me
Q. |[He, iuffy, died of consumptiony A. Yes sir.

By the gourt. Q. When you say he and two others died you mean two

others were there? A- The proprieto:r of the saloon also-

By Couﬁsel. Q. He, im$fy, was not very much under the influence of

liquor when he was talking to you abou:i this thing?
A. I do not think he was, I do not +hink he was drinking

anything that time.

Davis. Q. Did this conversatioj occur in the street or in

the saloon? Al Outside of the s:loon, the corner




of 24th Ztreet and 7th Avenue.

ror.- Q. When Dulfy mentioned the name of  fackin or ioran

did you know who he alluded to?

Court. Q. e pointed him oute A. Yes sir, he says,

"are you looking for ijackiny" I says, "I am not lookig

for anybody, I am going about my business.

Fel. Q- Who was phe member of your family that went around

with Carey, will you give me his name? A. I have not

got nobody only two sisters and a mother.

Do you know who it was that went around to causc the arrest

of Ford, Coogan and O'Brien? A. Yes sir, I know.

What is his name? ir. Morris's brother is one of

them.

What is #his first name? A. Tommy .
Do you know where he livesy A. T think it is 257.

Court. Q- Does he live where Llorris is® A,

1
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No sir, nec is
marrd ed, he lives around 28tn Street, his brother is there
b ? b

he cecan tell you.

By Counsel. Q. Where does the brother livey A« I do not know

the number, he lives in 28th Street between 7th and 8th

Avenue.

Did you go around at the instance of anybody to find this

man Rogan? A. I aidqd,

After your dischargev ir, when I

bail.

You were out on bail, were you? A. Yes sivp.

Did you help in the search {or tic se three mene?

A. I was in prison when they were arresied.
Did you help Carey? Ae. No sir, I was with myself
body else.




rr. Da

The Co

Hunting for the Tfourth man? A. Yes sivr, I was all
alone .

You say you went all alone looking for Rogane A.Yes sir.
sel. Q. Did you do that by advice of iir. Carey? A. No

sir, I dene it of my own free will.

Court. Q. Did you tell anybody? As No sir, I did not,

I was charged with the crime and he was, and I was looking

for him.

sel. Q. You thought it was your duty to look up a guilty
partyy A. Yes sir.

Court. Q. Do you know Rogan¢? No sir, I never saw
him until that night.

Describe him? A. He is about my size, he is very del-
icate and he has got a2 =mall black moustache, he is about
Tive feet ten or eleven, something like that.

As slender as you? A. Yes sivr.

As tall as your A. Yes} about my size.

/

art: Let the defendani stand up. It is manifest that ma

is not as tall as this man. Isthat your case, iiy.
Davise
vis: That is all, your Honor.

11rt: The peopled .rest.




R e PO S

PATRICK McKENNA recalled by Counselfor the

Defendant.

Do you remember the other itrial, Mr HMcKenna? A. Yes siw.

You said nothing abous the weighing affair in the last

trial uneil I ceross-—examined you, did you? A.Yes sir,
I diaq.
You first told me of it, you did not on the direct examin-

ation by Mr. Goffl, you said ncthing about being weighed?

A. I t0ld you about the weighing.

The CO}rt: Imrecollect some evidence, it was brought owui by you
on cross examination, I say thav 0 this Jusy now.

By Counsel. Q. I want to call yo.r atteniion %o some evidence you
gave on the last tiial. "Re-direct Fxamination by ir.
Goff. Q.-Now could you tell the Jury to the best of your
recollection. the man that said, "how heavy are youwu oy

whiat do you weigh? A.I am not sure whether it was Morris

|
!
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Oor nNo%Le Q+«Then you are not suwre of any of the Defendanks

who it was that said that, how heavy you were and wanted

you to weigh? A.I am not sure but I think it was him )in-
dicating. ) Q.Morris? A.Yes sir. By the Court.Q. Who
vook out the dollar? A.It was that other Fellow here, I

forget his name. By Hr.Goff.Q.0Ff cou¥se it is hard,

there are so many defendants, I will have thom brought out
again for identification, bring in O0'Connor also, now yo..

see all these men there, now can you identify any of the

men there, can you identify any ol the seven men before

you now as the man that pulled out the dollar and said,
"I will Dbet you a dollar that you do not weigh as heavy

as some other person? A.Yes sir, that man standing wiwh

his hand on his side. Q.That is Lynch? A.Yes sii.




Q.That is the man? A.Yes sire iteAnd is that the man that
youw identified in your examination to=-da, as ithe man shat
pPur his fingers .in yowr Pub packes whilc siand.ngs ae vhe

bar? By the Couri.Q.Which is the man tha-: put his hand

in ,our pocket? A.Lynch. QeWell, point him out? A.That
other man I think. By Mr. McLaughlin. Q.That second man?
A.Yes sir. ¥MR.GolL: One momentt. By the Court.Q.Now

point out the man that put his hand into yoar pocket?

A.It was Lynch put his hand in my pocket. Q.Which man do

you mean? A«This man standing here. Q.The man with his
hat in his hand? A.Yes sir. By ir.Goff.y.That is the
man? A.Yes sir. By the Court.Q.Now which is the man that |
took out the dollar and offered to bet? A.It was the same
mar. By Mr.Goff.Q. That is the man that he identified

this morning, Lynch. What did he say when he took out that

heavier than a man standing next to him." Now, is

that all correect?

A. Yes sire.
' diad
Now prior to your testifying bt lir. Carey tell anything

;

|

:

|

|

dollar? A.lle offered to bet me a dollar that I was not ;
|

i

i

i

to you about this weighing. processy A.Mo siyp.
A

Did he tcll you anything about it at all? L. No sir.

Did not explain to you how it was done or anything else?

A. No sir.

|
|
|
|

Q- He did not tell you how to vestify in the matter? A.No sir

Counsjel: Do you rest, Lir. Davis?

Mr. Dgyis: Yes.
Counsell.: I rest.

The Cdurt: The Defendant rests —-—— have you anything in rebuttal,

HMr. District Attorney?







. City and Count -' , ,'
| g Genl, e 2yt .
oj" No. f‘ga\ j ?/’f MSM'eet, age.d (_3 <

' occzqaatz;oﬂ&’ /Vé PP AT ey e

thaton the...b . 2S . . e 1 , at the City of New

years;

being duly sworn, deposes and says,
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CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK,

aged. . }..%years, occupation
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says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true ot deponents’ own

knowledge.
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CITY AND COUNTY |
O ANEW YORK, §

2227

.W’, District Police Court.

SS,

LN R being duly examined before the under-

Question,

Answer.

goed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is >’ right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against _tes, ;that the statement is designed to
enable h(>s Nif he see fit to answer the charge and explaln the facts alleged against® h
that he

against h (-7-, » on the trial.

is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that ~T?>° waiver cannot be used

What is your name ?

Question.

How old

Answer.

Question.

oo J D

‘Where were you born ?

An SWwer.

Quest Zon.

Answer.
Question.,

Answer.

Qrees s'lmn .

Answer.

VVhere do you live, fmd ]10w long have you J'eslded there

25% 7 W%/W

‘What is your business or profession 7

ot

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
“téstimony against you, and’ state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpntmn
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Offence

JU0ad [
LA (g

It appearing to me by the within depositions and statéments that the crinve therein mentioned has been

committted, and that there is sufficient cawse to believe the within named

%//ﬁf/w/z e 4;«:&/;17

be hveld to answer t]g&'{zmla and he  be admitted {0 bail in the sum of

.guf?/ thereof, I order that he

W Hundred Dollars and be commitied to the Warden and Keeper of

S

4
b 7
e City Prisn/7"of' the City of New York, until  he 3 ch bail.
2 '4/% = 7 18 < &0 o o 2 i Police Justice.
P - 7

Dated - 2 /

T

I have admiitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertalking lereto annexed.

18 Police Justice.

Dated

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order I tobe discharged.

Police Justice.




Gourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF TIHE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TaE PEorLE OoF THE STATE oF Nrw YORK,

against

WW

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment,

accusew eSS -—

of the Crine or ROBBERY in the Sﬁi‘“’&' degree, committed as follows:

The S&id%&.a-w M}:}

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on thei._....;s“_\g-

W&. day of w) in the year of our Lord one thousand eight
hundred and eigﬂi—tf—,\_'.“&x, in the.s—%time of the said day, at the City and
County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon one@mww)

in the peace of the said People, then and there being, feloniously did malke an assault, and

MNE’\DV\, JQ\JX\A_ S n K»ﬂb’_w’

of the goods, chattels and personal property of the 82idCD st Dan ~oe Xrmnmo— |
from the person of the said R Dal e ha o against the will,

and by violence to the person of the said G So. v K o>, T

then and there violently and feloniously did rob, steal, take and carry away, X o e

S TS Seatar > SUSUE S @Y

Lot Bad St Pernn oo O B <
Ko 23 2 SN TR e, SO N S

PR SN, PP, %_c@w .

against the form of the statute in guch case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

T ans o,

W




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the said

of the CrixE oF RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows :

The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

day of in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred

and eighty- at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have ; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, talken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.




